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          1  COMMITTEE ON ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

          2                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: I'm the Chairman

          3  on the Economic Development Committee. I'd like to

          4  first of all extend a warm welcome to you and what a

          5  fine job we have done in New York City to clear up

          6  our roads under blizzard conditions. Due to those

          7  conditions previously, some of the members may or

          8  may not be able to make this meeting. But this will

          9  not be the last meeting.

         10                 What I would like to do is, we want

         11  to talk about the Enterprise Zones and the impact

         12  that they have been having in the City of New York.

         13  You can assist me and the Committee in terms of

         14  bringing me up to speed. The zones are not foreign

         15  to me because having served on Economic Committee

         16  previously for ten years with Jay O'Donovan as the

         17  Chairperson, I'm somewhat familiar with the zones.

         18  Probably as not up to speed with the changes or

         19  modifications and also I'm familiar with the IP

         20  program.

         21                 With that in mind, I just would like

         22  to see what we can do in moving the City ahead

         23  unilaterally with all the concerns that we have in

         24  the City with employment and business and all those

         25  other things that make for a wholesome City. I would
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          2  like to call up Andrew Schwartz, Yoonie Cho and Don

          3  Giampietro. Would you identify yourselves and who

          4  you represent?

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ: Yes,

          6  Councilman. Thank you very much. Good morning

          7  Chairman White, members of the Committee. I am

          8  Andrew Schwartz, First Deputy Commissioner at the

          9  Department of Small Business Services. With me today

         10  is Yoonie Cho, Director of the Empire Zones Program

         11  at the agency and Don Giampietro who is the

         12  Assistant Commissioner for Business Incentives at

         13  SBS.

         14                 A key component of New York City's

         15  economic development strategy has been to provide

         16  programs and incentives that help maintain and

         17  attract businesses to different areas of the City.

         18  Through the Department of Small Business Services,

         19  we are committed to assisting businesses and

         20  revitalizing industrial and commercial

         21  neighborhoods. Created in 1986 by the State, the

         22  Empire Zones Program is a targeted incentives

         23  program that benefits certain areas facing long-

         24  term unemployment and economic disadvantage. The

         25  program stimulates private investment, business
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          2  development and job creation through a series of

          3  State tax credits and exemptions. This includes a

          4  wage tax credit, investment tax, an employment

          5  incentives tax credit and sales tax exemption. These

          6  benefits and all the other tax credit and refunds

          7  that are part of the program, are paid entirely by

          8  the State. So that means this is enjoyed at

          9  virtually no cost to the City.

         10                 With the recent announcement of the

         11  designation of a zone in Chinatown Lower East Side

         12  area of Manhattan, there are now 11 Empire Zones in

         13  the City with at least two in every borough. The

         14  zones are in the following locations: Hunts Point

         15  and Port Morris in the Bronx; East New York, the

         16  Brooklyn Navy Yard, and Southwest Brooklyn; Rockaway

         17  and South Jamaica in Queens; Harlem and Chinatown in

         18  Manhattan and the North Shore and West Shores in

         19  Staten Island.

         20                 Once certified, businesses within a

         21  zone are eligible to receive a host of financial

         22  incentives such as the wage tax credit, real

         23  property tax credit, sales tax exemption and

         24  investment tax credit. According to the most recent

         25  data made available through the Empire State
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          2  Development Corporation, we can attribute over

          3  16,715 new jobs, $180 million in private investment

          4  to the 1,148 businesses certified in Empire Zones in

          5  the City. There are some additional information, 204

          6  of the newly certified of those 1,027 are small

          7  businesses with less than 100 employees. Of that

          8  group, 84 are minority owned, 86 women owned.

          9                 Since the enactment of the law in

         10  1986, the City has sought to steadfastly grow the

         11  program not only in number and size of zones, but

         12  also improving the quality of administration through

         13  its partnership with local development corporations

         14  as its channel of service delivery, and you will

         15  hear from several representatives of these groups

         16  today. For every zone in the City, the program and

         17  goals and policies are conceived and implemented by

         18  a Zone Administrative Board whose membership

         19  represents key government agencies such as Business

         20  Services, Economic Development Corporation, HRA,

         21  Housing Preservation and Development, as well as the

         22  local Council member, borough president and

         23  representatives from labor, finance and business

         24  entities within the Zone. Additionally, each zone

         25  retains a loan fund that allows businesses to borrow
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          2  funds at lower than market rate to encourage

          3  expansion and development.

          4                 The zones are an extremely valuable

          5  tool in the Administration's efforts to give small

          6  businesses the resources they need to stay and grow

          7  in New York City. In tandem with other incentives

          8  managed by SBS through our New York City Business

          9  Solution Centers, the zones can provide solid

         10  opportunities for businesses that are starting,

         11  expanding or relocating within the five boroughs.

         12                 Additionally, the zones will provide

         13  a strong supplement to the Administration's goal of

         14  retaining and growing firms in manufacturing and

         15  industrial sectors through the Mayor's Office of

         16  Industrial and Manufacturing Businesses. In its

         17  proposed designation of 16 Industrial Business Zones

         18  across the City, the Office has sought to ensure

         19  that the boundaries of the IBZs overlap with

         20  existing Empire Zone boundaries, wherever possible,

         21  to provide even more financial incentives to the

         22  firms that relocate there.

         23                 Last year, the State legislature

         24  passed and the Governor signed into law legislation

         25  that extended the Empire Zone Program to 2011, and
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          2  identified additional areas as eligible for Zone

          3  designation. As said, Chinatown, an excellent

          4  candidate for Empire Zone designation due to the

          5  effects of September 11, was approved. This

          6  Committee and the full Council supported the City's

          7  application for Chinatown late last year and we are

          8  very pleased with the State making this part of the

          9  first group to be certified in the new program.

         10                 In order to be certified for benefits

         11  under the new law, businesses must meet a minimum

         12  threshold within a cost- benefit analysis. In

         13  addition, the new law allows local zones flexibility

         14  to propose Regionally Significant Projects outside

         15  of zone boundaries. These projects would be eligible

         16  for zone benefits without having to undergo the time

         17  consuming process of boundary revision. Finally,

         18  businesses that lease their own property are now

         19  eligible for the Real Property Tax Credit. This is

         20  particularly important in New York City where many

         21  businesses lease rather than own their premises and

         22  previously had been unable to benefit from the

         23  credit.

         24                 It is our hope that the Empire Zone

         25  Program will continue to act as a stimulus for
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          2  business growth and economic revitalization in key

          3  areas through the City. I want to thank the Council

          4  for their attention to this important program. I

          5  look forward to working with you to continue to make

          6  the Empire Zones a viable and valuable economic

          7  development asset. Myself, Yoonie and Don can answer

          8  some questions.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Thank you very

         10  much for your testimony. The regional expansion of

         11  the enterprise zones, those would be much broader

         12  than the present enterprise zones.

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ: By

         14  enterprise zones, are we talking about Empire Zones?

         15                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Yes, right.

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ: Okay.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: In other words,

         18  they have a certain geographical area, I think

         19  within two miles?

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ: That's

         21  right. Correct.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: If it is two miles

         23  and you mention some flexibility with the regional

         24  addition to that, that would take it beyond the

         25  bounds of two miles or less?
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ: That's

          3  correct. That would be in addition to the boundaries

          4  of the zone. This new provision providing for

          5  regionally significant projects, the State is

          6  adopting regulations to govern that process. But

          7  essentially, outside the zone if you could establish

          8  a regionally significant project, that would get

          9  Empire Zone benefits without having to change the

         10  boundaries and it would essentially be beyond the

         11  two miles.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: So you wouldn't

         13  have to change the boundaries, but sort of like

         14  extend the boundaries and along with that comes the

         15  benefits.

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ:

         17  Correct. You would have to get approval of that

         18  specific project.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: What would that

         20  expansion entail in terms of from two miles to the

         21  best of your knowledge?

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ: They

         23  have establish four criteria, I believe in the law

         24  for regionally significant projects in the financial

         25  and insurance distribution creating 300 or more new
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          2  jobs. I think that is one of the big elements is job

          3  creation. Probably agri- business, high- tech, bio-

          4  tech with investment over $10 million would be

          5  another criteria. They have also established other

          6  projects. So those are projects that the State will

          7  look at on a case by case basis for eligibility.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Okay. Let me

          9  acknowledge my colleague who is here, Council Member

         10  Al Vann. There was a report, I believe, by the

         11  Comptroller's Office that indicated that the

         12  measurements or the milestones that the certified

         13  zones had to meet was a little bit questionable

         14  because they could not be verified due to, I

         15  believe, I read where audits were not done to see

         16  whether or not those criteria were meet in

         17  particular with the jobs. I believe that the Zone

         18  administrators which should consist of one person

         19  from the community, one person from the labor, one

         20  person from the -- three more individuals that were

         21  suppose to be part of the administrative arm of the

         22  enterprise zones. Am I correct with that question?

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ: Yes.

         24  The zones are governed by a Zone Administrative

         25  Board that is to say has representatives of the
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          2  administration, the Council Members, borough

          3  presidents as well as members of the labor business

          4  communities.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Is it six or is it

          6  a minimum of six or more or just six?

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ: It is a

          8  minimum of six and I think most of our zones have

          9  more than that.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Okay. Council

         11  Member.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER VIVERITO: Yes, thank

         13  you. Looking at the time line with regards to the

         14  Comptroller's Report that came out and the

         15  legislative changes that were enacted last year, are

         16  those legislative changes in response to the

         17  Comptroller's Report? Because obviously there were

         18  issues that were raised in the Comptroller's Report

         19  about the benefits that these businesses get versus

         20  the benefits they are giving to the community,

         21  meaning jobs, the number of jobs created, et cetera

         22  and they were falling short of their goals. The

         23  legislative changes seem to want to address that. Is

         24  that correct? Meaning, greater accountability.

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ: Well,

                                                            13

          1  COMMITTEE ON ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

          2  it is probably a variety of circumstances. The

          3  Empire Zone Program was sunsetting sometime around

          4  when the Comptroller was doing the audit and it was

          5  subject to a series of brief extensions by the

          6  legislature. That is something at the time we were

          7  very concerned with was the sunset of this entire

          8  law. First and foremost we wanted to see it extended

          9  and to retain a lot of the benefits and credits that

         10  it offered.

         11                 I think when it was extended as I say

         12  until 2011, so this gives us sometime to work with,

         13  our local administrative boards I think had

         14  performed well and some of that was noted in the

         15  audit that the Comptroller put out in terms of job

         16  creation. I think there may have been some confusion

         17  that businesses were predicting performance when

         18  they got certified with the zone and sometimes they

         19  were criticized for not creating what some of the

         20  job predictions were. But those were, of course,

         21  subject to change based on business environment. And

         22  that credits and benefits were only given in the

         23  case where actual jobs were created.

         24                 The new program, the Cost Benefit

         25  Analysis I was discussing for a business to get
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          2  certified, addresses probably a lot of concerns

          3  regarding the benefits that the company will be

          4  getting versus what they are investing and how many

          5  new jobs they are creating. I think the new law also

          6  provides for an annual report by the State Tax

          7  Commission. Do you want to add something?

          8                 MR. GIAMPIETRO: I just want to say

          9  also when we did an assessment of the zones program

         10  peculiar to New York City businesses versus upstate

         11  businesses, there were also modifications that we

         12  saw independent of the report that would make the

         13  program more amendable to New York City businesses.

         14  Not to go into specifics, but there were certain

         15  employment tests that need to be met and other

         16  criteria. And again, because of the uniqueness of

         17  New York City businesses perhaps moving within

         18  boroughs and the like, these modifications were also

         19  part of the legislation.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER VIVERITO: Okay, thank

         21  you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Could you at this

         23  point discuss which Empire Zones in the City are

         24  performing well or doing well?

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ: We wait
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          2  for data annually from the State on this is one

          3  issue. It would be hard to get into specifics of

          4  that. We certainly would be willing to discuss with

          5  you and provide you with their last annual reports

          6  that we have. I think today you are going to hear

          7  from three of the representatives from

          8  administrative of three of the zones who can into a

          9  little more detail.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: I would appreciate

         11  it if you had that information, you would forward it

         12  to the Committee --

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ: Yes.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: -- When you do get

         15  it.

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ: We will

         17  provide you with the last set of zone annual

         18  reports.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Okay. You

         20  mentioned in terms of the tax incentives for the

         21  zones and my colleague mentioned in terms of

         22  employment and a projection on the part of the

         23  employers as to how many jobs they are going to

         24  create, et cetera. I would think that they would

         25  submit that and be certified and held to those
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          2  targets. If they fall under the targets, do they

          3  still get the full allotment of those tax credits or

          4  do they have to return any portion thereof because

          5  they didn't create. Let's say they were going to

          6  create 50 jobs and they only created 25.

          7                 MS. CHO: Councilman White, the Empire

          8  Zone benefits are given in ratio of the jobs created

          9  or the investment made. So it is not given prior to

         10  making the investment or jobs being created and then

         11  being taken back. It is at the end of the year when

         12  the company files their tax reports, it is reported

         13  that how many jobs are created and how much

         14  investments are made. So that is automatically

         15  calculated based on what they submit as a result.

         16  Tax credits are calculated purely based on what the

         17  outcome is at the end of the year. Credits are not

         18  given on the presumption that they create a certain

         19  amount of jobs or a certain amount of capital

         20  investments. I think there was a misinterpretation

         21  in the audit by the State Comptroller's office in

         22  that they miscalculated the benefits.

         23                 Obviously, the projections that the

         24  companies made in the beginning of the year when

         25  they wanted to get certified, it was their hopes
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          2  that they would meet certain standards of

          3  performance, but given the 9/11 or whatever the

          4  business climate is, they may have created three

          5  jobs instead of the originally projected five jobs.

          6  That doesn't mean that they got credits based on the

          7  five jobs that they projected, they only created

          8  three jobs so they only got three jobs worth of tax

          9  credits. It never goes over the limit of what they

         10  actually create that they are getting rewarded on.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Okay. One more

         12  question and I'll turn it over to my colleague

         13  again. The ICIP Program which is City tax levy

         14  dollars, how does that fit within these zones.

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ: It is

         16  not a benefit of the zone program as you say. It is

         17  a City Industrial Commercial Incentive Program. Don

         18  Giampietro is familiar with it.

         19                 MR. GIAMPIETRO: Although the SBS is

         20  not administered the ICIP Program, our sister agency

         21  department finance does, we're very familiar with

         22  guiding businesses through the process. ICIP is

         23  Citywide with specific criteria and restrictions in

         24  certain areas of the City. Again, it compliments the

         25  Empire Zone, but again, it is a City benefit. The
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          2  Empire Zone has a real estate tax benefit as well

          3  which often is confused with the ICIP. Just simply,

          4  the ICIP rewards businesses, usually land real

          5  property owners for reinventing properties and

          6  proving our infrastructure basically. What happens

          7  is, there is a relief from the increase taxation

          8  attributable to the increased assessment that would

          9  naturally result from improvements to a property.

         10  This benefits many tenants in the City, small

         11  businesses who have net leases where they inherit

         12  the tax burden of the property.

         13                 The real property tax credit of the

         14  Empire Zone, however, is calculated by formula and

         15  is against the State taxes. So basically what you do

         16  is use your City taxes, whether you have a ICIP or

         17  not and you apply this against your State taxes and

         18  as Andy pointed out, the tenants now can receive the

         19  Empire Zone real property tax. So basically the ICIP

         20  for a small business is very effective in that the

         21  business is relieved from that increased tax burden

         22  on their rent because the property owner now is

         23  receiving exemption and now if they are within an

         24  Empire Zone, they can compliment that by taking a

         25  portion of the dollar value of the real property
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          2  taxes that they pay and apply against it their State

          3  taxes. They work in tandem. Again, the ICIP is

          4  Citywide and not restricted to the Empire Zones, but

          5  works together.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Thank you. We've

          7  been joined by my colleagues, Council Member Palma

          8  and Council Member Gerson. Can you discuss how the

          9  Empire Zone Program how does it fit into the Mayor's

         10  five budget economic development plan?

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ: As I

         12  have mentioned, it provides an important tool in

         13  terms of attracting business, retaining businesses

         14  in the City because it provides State tax credits

         15  and exemptions at no cost to the City. It is a key

         16  part in particularly economically disadvantaged

         17  parts of the City. Also, as the Mayor's Office of

         18  Industrial and Manufacturing has been going through

         19  the process of proposing industrial business zones,

         20  as much as possible we're trying to make those

         21  boundaries co- terminus with the Empire Zones in

         22  order to add additional benefits and make

         23  particularly hard hit areas of the City more

         24  valuable for relocation.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER VIVERITO: Maybe you
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          2  think the Administrators might be better served to

          3  answer this, but I'd like to get your take on the

          4  process by which zones prior to the changes

          5  legislatively have been evaluated in terms of

          6  progress, how they have been doing. How that was

          7  done prior to the legislative changes and how will

          8  it change as a result of these legislative changes?

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ: They

         10  may be more on the ground in terms of being able to

         11  respond to how it's going to impact on them on a

         12  zone by zone basis. I think we have been, somewhat

         13  are subject to data that is collected by the State.

         14  I mean, that is the situation that the City is in,

         15  in getting handle on the Empire Zone performance,

         16  and we think that there are provisions in the law

         17  that will probably provide greater access to some of

         18  this data in terms of evaluating the performance of

         19  the zones.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: How are businesses

         21  expected to carry out the new reforms requirements

         22  for a cost benefit analysis?

         23                 What should be included in that

         24  analysis?

         25                 Will the businesses be trained in how

                                                            21

          1  COMMITTEE ON ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

          2  to carry out to do that analysis?

          3                 And who reviews and determines the

          4  accuracy of these reports?

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ: I

          6  think, first and foremost, we have always been in a

          7  position to, through a UNI's (phonetic) program at

          8  the Small Business Services and a lot of our

          9  business assistance personnel in the Business

         10  Solution Centers are always ready to assist

         11  businesses that are working with, whether it is ICIP

         12  or Workforce Development or any program that we

         13  have, to assist in the process, whatever it may

         14  require, whatever the legal requirements of a

         15  particular program may be. There will be assistance

         16  provided when a business is looking to get certified

         17  in an Empire Zone through our agency as well as

         18  through the local zone administrators. They will be

         19  working with them on the cost benefit analysis

         20  ensuring that they can meet the requirements.

         21                 MS. CHO: Cost benefit analysis is a

         22  ratio by which the certified business or the

         23  applicant business to become certified demonstrates

         24  that there is at least $15 of dollar value of return

         25  to the States in terms of job creation or investment
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          2  made for every dollar of tax credit given. That 15

          3  to one ratio was established by the Empire State

          4  Development Corporation which is the Governor's

          5  administrative body for the Empire Zone Program

          6  overseeing the whole program Statewide to have some

          7  baseline standard for all the 72 zones existing in

          8  Statewide.

          9                 However, the new legislation permits

         10  individual zone to modify that 15 to one ratio to

         11  fit its local economic conditions or situation. So

         12  we still have local leverage to adjust that ratio.

         13  The only reason we have not done so is because it is

         14  still very early in the stage and the State has to

         15  go through certain administrative adjustments and

         16  legislative corrections, technical changes to the

         17  law to finalize the rules and regulations that also

         18  promulgate some new rules and regulations to the

         19  law. Then the local administrative boards would take

         20  steps to look more closely about how to modify that

         21  15 to one ratio to either tighten it or to loosen it

         22  to make it easier for smaller businesses to qualify.

         23  I just wanted to make sure that everyone understands

         24  that there is a local leverage to be played out at

         25  the local zone administrative board level.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: On two issues and

          3  I will see if my colleagues will want to participate

          4  in this hearing, but on the administrative level

          5  locally, it appears as though, it appears as though,

          6  they may fall a little short in terms of

          7  administrating the program in terms of doing an

          8  analysis that could be verifiable that would be

          9  accepted on the part of the State because of the 375

         10  businesses participating in the program, 375

         11  businesses participating in the program have fallen

         12  short of their job creation goals by 36 percent.

         13  That 23 percent of the 375 businesses sample

         14  suffered reduced staffing.

         15                 The 34 businesses reduced jobs or so

         16  improperly claimed tax breaks totalling

         17  approximately $2.4 million. That's the question.

         18  That's the issue in terms if some things work and

         19  some things don't work, how do you measure it and

         20  then if you measure it and you see that there is

         21  some holes that have to be filled up to make it

         22  creditable. If we can't see it then we can fix it.

         23  Do you understand what I'm saying?

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ: Yes,

         25  Council Member. I think we have been talking about
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          2  that point of the projection of jobs and companies

          3  that didn't met it that were pointed out in the

          4  Comptroller's audit and we have tried to distinguish

          5  between again what companies were projecting at a

          6  particular point in time that they didn't get

          7  benefits for though. I think as Yoonie was trying to

          8  make clear that they are not given credit or tax

          9  benefits on projections, but only on the actual jobs

         10  ultimately created. That now process is different

         11  because we have the cost benefit analysis that is

         12  going to be applied in terms of investment, job

         13  creation, versus the tax benefits to be given. I

         14  think there is some expectation that addresses that

         15  concern and I think we are at the beginning of a new

         16  system and we want to see how that works out.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: In terms of the

         18  benefits and then I'll turn it over to my colleague,

         19  in terms of the benefits, it is well known that

         20  there is a high percentage of African Americans and

         21  Latinos who are unemployed in the City of New York.

         22  When you talk about these zones and incentives and

         23  given tax money for businesses and these individuals

         24  who invest in these business, who invest in these

         25  zones (which I encourage, I encourage business). I'm
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          2  an advocate of business. But I would also like to

          3  see that business translate into jobs for the people

          4  that live in the City of New York and not see such a

          5  high unemployment rate.

          6                 There is a double kind accountability

          7  I'm looking at here. And that is a business person,

          8  I'm getting my tax benefits, I'm getting all the

          9  benefits that the State and the City has to offer.

         10  Yet, and still, when I get down to my business, I

         11  may not necessarily hire two more people or five or

         12  ten, depending on the size of the business. All I'm

         13  trying to get is a reading on how do we ensure or

         14  take a look to motivate business to additional

         15  employees. The last time that I was here dealing

         16  with the ICIP Program, one of the things we found

         17  was that employers were hiring people and part of

         18  that tax benefit was after six months they became

         19  permanent. But they were getting terminated in five

         20  months. Another person from that community was being

         21  hired. They were fulfilling their obligation in

         22  terms of hiring people from the community, but in

         23  terms of it being some permanency on the part of the

         24  person that came from that community of having a

         25  stable job, that was one that was questionable in my
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          2  sight. That's why I'm adding that second piece in

          3  terms of job creation due to the high rate of

          4  unemployment.

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ: I

          6  appreciate your question, Council Member. What we do

          7  through all of our programs, I was trying to stress

          8  earlier is to encourage the growth and the

          9  development of businesses in New York City and that

         10  includes in terms of job creation and putting this

         11  program within small business services is effective

         12  because we also have the Workforce Development

         13  Program that tries to place New Yorkers in jobs. We

         14  hope all the jobs being created by these businesses

         15  will be filled with local New Yorkers.

         16                 We have Workforce One Centers in

         17  Jamaica, Queens, in downtown Brooklyn, in the Bronx,

         18  the hub, in Staten Island and upper Manhattan as

         19  well on 125th Street. We look to work with our

         20  programs, the Empire Zone Programs the businesses in

         21  them to see that those job opportunities are filled

         22  with New Yorkers. We also as you know our agency

         23  administers the Minority Women Business Enterprise

         24  Program, so again we have another entry point with

         25  businesses that are minority women owned and will be
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          2  aware of the job opportunities coming out of there.

          3                 To link all these programs together

          4  and our workforce services and Don's incentive

          5  programs which include an energy cost savings

          6  program where again we encounter businesses that are

          7  growing, that are expanding that are investing in

          8  their property and we want to bring all that

          9  together in terms of ensuring that jobs are not

         10  artificial, that they are five months, but they are

         11  long term good opportunities.

         12                 MR. GIAMPIETRO: Just quickly, the

         13  Empire Zone Program specifically, there were two

         14  programs that we fought to continue which would be

         15  the Wage Tax Credit and Yoonie could probably speak

         16  in more detail for those if a certified firm hires

         17  employees that are economically disadvantage, not

         18  specific to the area like the Empowerment Zone, but

         19  economically disadvantage, the wage tax credit

         20  increases so they are incentivize to hire. And then

         21  b, there is something called the Employment

         22  Incentive Credit which is tied to the Empire Zone

         23  Investment Tax Credit where if a firm receives an

         24  investment tax credit through the Empire Zone in

         25  year one and in year two increases employment, they
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          2  are also rewarded with an employment incentive. So

          3  there is two within the Empire Zone's specifically

          4  and SBS went last year to Albany to ensure that

          5  those particular pieces were kept.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Council Member

          7  Vann.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: Yes, thank you,

          9  Mr. Chairman. The Empowerment Zone law came into

         10  effect in 1986 as I recall, which means it has been

         11  around 20 years since we have this Empowerment Zone

         12  Program in concept. Can we say in 20 years, can we

         13  point to any reduction in poverty in New York City

         14  or within those particular zones? Can we measure the

         15  more people employed in New York City or in those

         16  zones as a result of the Empire Zone's being in

         17  effect in all the benefits and so forth? Have there

         18  been any measurable change in poverty or increase in

         19  employment in the last 20 years since these zones

         20  have been in place?

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ: I think

         22  Council Member, I wouldn't want to speculate on

         23  specific zones, poverty rates, but we are going to

         24  get the Committee the annual reports. I think there

         25  are certainly job creation and businesses that

                                                            29

          1  COMMITTEE ON ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

          2  benefitted through the benefits of the -- it is not

          3  the Empowerment Zone, but the Empire Zone Program.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: Empire Zone,

          5  yes.

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ: I think

          7  the City has one Empowerment Zone, the federally

          8  created program in Upper Manhattan and the South

          9  Bronx. Again, we believe that the benefits offered

         10  by the Empire Zone Program are affecting and helpful

         11  to businesses throughout the areas that they serve.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: If I said,

         13  Empowerment Zone, I misspoke. I was referring to

         14  Empire Zones. And I'm a little unclear as to you not

         15  knowing after 20 years of having these zones to know

         16  specifically what impact it has made on the

         17  constituents within the zone. The purpose for the

         18  zone is because you designate those zones because of

         19  the poverty and unemployment essentially. So

         20  whatever benefits you are bringing to those

         21  businesses, it would believe to either reduce the

         22  poverty and by the same extension increased

         23  employment of the people there. And you are saying

         24  that you don't really know whether or not that has

         25  been successful even though it has been around for

                                                            30

          1  COMMITTEE ON ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

          2  20 years?

          3                 MS. CHO: With all due respect,

          4  Council Member, the unemployment rate and poverty

          5  rate are two macro economic in scale to be swayed by

          6  two square miles of Empire Zone impact. Two square

          7  miles of a zone basically touches only a certain

          8  number of businesses and a certain number of

          9  residents. We can provide you with the number of

         10  jobs created and the dollar value of investments

         11  made over the period of program that had the

         12  documentation of those statistics.

         13                 However, to interpret Empire Zones

         14  success in terms of reduction in poverty rate and

         15  unemployment, although that was the spirit of the

         16  inception of the program, is misleading in a way

         17  because it is too small an area to reverberate the

         18  impact of job creation and investment to decrease

         19  the unemployment and poverty rate. That may have

         20  other attributable factors then just those areas

         21  that Empire Zone acreage touches on. That's my

         22  perspective.

         23                 But we can give you the solid data on

         24  how many jobs that were created and how many

         25  residents were hired into those jobs. Those data do
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          2  exist. However, it is sort of hard to pin down and I

          3  think it is a reasonable assumption that there are

          4  more factors than just Empire Zone Program alone

          5  that act as sort of a stimulator of the economy in

          6  that area that there may be other factors that are

          7  independent of the improvement of unemployment and

          8  poverty rate.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: Okay. I'm not

         10  adversarial, I'm just trying to find out if it is an

         11  effective program. Maybe we need to expand it and

         12  increase it. After 20 years, what do you say about

         13  the program?

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ: As I

         15  say, we believe this is an important tool. Again,

         16  this is a program that is funded through the State

         17  essentially, all the benefits that are given. It is

         18  an added tool that the City has available to it in

         19  ten and now 11 areas of the City including the new

         20  Chinatown zone that is coming into being. Again,

         21  when you are talking to businesses that are thinking

         22  about leaving the City, this is what we encounter

         23  quite often. You have got areas that you can give

         24  them that are basically tax free in a lot ways from

         25  the State benefits.
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          2                 It is an important tool to offer as I

          3  say as we mix it with other programs such as the

          4  industrial credit that we went up to Albany to get

          5  added benefits for businesses locating within an

          6  industrial business zone. When you couple these

          7  programs together, you develop powerful tools to

          8  encourage businesses to stay and grow and invest in

          9  New York City. That's what we believe is really the

         10  importance of the program.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: It is the last

         12  time I'm going at this. Over the past 20 years, we

         13  probably have been able to get some businesses from

         14  not moving out from staying and so on and so forth.

         15  Therefore, by extension we can say to the extent

         16  that those businesses remain, they were able to

         17  retain employees, if you will, and things would have

         18  been worse I guess have we not had these programs.

         19  That is essentially what we are saying?

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ: I think

         21  to really crunch the kind of numbers that you are

         22  talking about and get that analysis is something

         23  that would have to be looked at. But I agree with

         24  what you just said, certainly, that has been a

         25  benefit of the program.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: But what I said

          3  is really to trying to interpret what you are saying

          4  and even though the overall poverty rate in New York

          5  City is not going down. In fact, in my indication

          6  there is more poverty. And the unemployment is still

          7  high and going higher. It would have been worse, I

          8  guess if we didn't have those programs. I just want

          9  to get the value of these programs. You said it

         10  would have been worse. We're not really solving a

         11  problem, it is not a solution solving the problem

         12  only to the extent that we are preventing it from

         13  getting worse.

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ: I

         15  didn't mean to say that that is what it's doing is

         16  just keeping it from getting worse. I think that is

         17  one way of what you are saying. But again, we deal

         18  with these zones on census track data, as you say on

         19  unemployment, on poverty rates and I'm not going to

         20  speculate which have gone up and which have gone

         21  down in the last 20 years. That is a different type

         22  of analysis.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: Okay. Last

         24  question, Mr. Chairman. Is it the purpose of these

         25  zones to impact the residents who live in and around
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          2  those particular zones? Is that part of the mission?

          3                 MS. CHO: First and foremost, the

          4  direct constitutes of this program or the

          5  beneficiary of the program are the businesses

          6  located inside the zone boundaries that would like

          7  to grow in the City of New York doing their

          8  business. And thereby, subsequently or consequently

          9  the benefits would go to the residents and workers

         10  in the zone because they would get the employment

         11  opportunities. They are more likely to become more

         12  trained in their trade skills to move up in the

         13  ladder of the businesses that they work at. It

         14  improves the quality of life in a general area of

         15  the Empire Zone's program by having the business

         16  invest in their infrastructure and make capital

         17  improvements to their facility and invest and make

         18  ultimately commitment, long- term commitment to stay

         19  in the area. That gives residents some promise to

         20  invest themselves.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: You do

         22  understand that there is a lot of assumptions being

         23  made here. You are assuming, first of all that the

         24  business owner lives in the community. That is in

         25  most cases not true in the Black/Latino communities.
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          2  Second, you are assuming that the employment, that

          3  if they do create the employment, that the local

          4  people in the area of the zone will get that

          5  employment. That is not necessarily true. I'm just

          6  trying to find out what we can do to make it more

          7  effective because as it has been over the 20 years,

          8  it doesn't seem as if there is measurable progress

          9  other than what might have happened had they not

         10  been there, had they not received certain things.

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ: I

         12  appreciate that Council Member. I did make the point

         13  on our five borough strategy is trying to work with

         14  businesses in terms of our employment centers as

         15  well. And to stress the importance of hiring locally

         16  for those business. Maybe the owner doesn't live in

         17  the neighborhood and maybe he does. But the

         18  investment in those facilities is being made in that

         19  area.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: Thank you. Thank

         21  you, Mr. Chairman.

         22                 CHAIRMAN WHITE: Council Member Palma.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: Thank you, Mr.

         24  Chair. Good morning and I'm sorry I'm late. I don't

         25  know if my questions have been asked and answered.
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          2  But if they have, just tell me and I will yield my

          3  time to Council Member Gerson. But, your testimony

          4  say this 1,148 businesses in total, that's in the

          5  five boroughs?

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ:

          7  Certified businesses.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: Certified

          9  businesses.

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ: In the

         11  ten Empire Zones, that those are businesses within

         12  those zones that have been certified to receive

         13  benefits.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: Out of the

         15  1,027, 84 minorities, 86 are women owned and 21 are

         16  both minority or women owned. Under the new reforms

         17  that you speak about, what are we going to increase

         18  those numbers in terms of getting/attracting more

         19  minority owned businesses and more women owned

         20  businesses?

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ: Just to

         22  be clear, do you mean -- well the data that we have

         23  for that program is a State program and we get the

         24  data from the State as to minority and women owned.

         25  We're interested in that because of the City's own
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          2  minority and women owned business program where we

          3  are trying to certify businesses in terms of doing

          4  procurement activity with the City of New York,

          5  contracting opportunities and that is a vehicle for

          6  finding more companies. That program established by

          7  the Council and the Mayor and Local Law 129 signed

          8  at the end of last year is another program that this

          9  agency is administering.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: Through that

         11  this number will be expected to grow?

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ: We

         13  certainly would like to certify a number of

         14  businesses to grow in New York City and certainly

         15  within the zones as well.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: What kind of

         17  outreach are we doing to businesses to let them know

         18  about the new reforms? To let them know how they

         19  become part of the Empire Zone?

         20                 MS. CHO: On a regular basis, SBS

         21  oversees nine and what is to become ten local

         22  development corporations as our operating partners

         23  in the neighborhoods to do essentially what you are

         24  talking about; marketing, business development,

         25  seminars to increase their capacity, skill capacity
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          2  as business. We have these LDC hold seminars to

          3  really let the businesses know about how that first

          4  of all, Empire Zone Program exists in their

          5  neighborhood and that they may be qualified. So they

          6  need to examine what their growth projections are

          7  and if they actually meet those projections, they

          8  should be certified and we will help them through

          9  the certification process as well as the accessing

         10  of the credit process. We do on a regular basis and

         11  monthly or bi-monthly basis to seminars and events,

         12  information events to let them know that we are

         13  there in the neighborhood.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: Then just to

         15  piggyback off the concern that Council Member Vann

         16  raised in terms of employment coming or the jobs

         17  being offered to the folks of the community. In your

         18  testimony, it outlines who is part of this

         19  administrative board that the Empire Zone has. The

         20  community people are not part of this board, is that

         21  correct?

         22                 MS. CHO: Community board is also part

         23  of the composition of the administrative board. So

         24  if they are multiple community boards within the

         25  boundaries, they can all attend the administrative
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          2  board meetings which are essentially public

          3  meetings, open public meetings.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: But they are

          5  not part of this board which the SBS is part of the

          6  board that cannot development corporation as part of

          7  this board.

          8                 MS. CHO: The community board is also

          9  a member of the board.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: Okay. That's

         11  what I wanted to know. Thank you. Thank you, Mr.

         12  Chair.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Council Member.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Thank you very

         15  much, Mr. Chair. Thank you very much for your

         16  leadership in bringing about this very important

         17  hearing. I just want to clarify a few technical

         18  points for general purposes and also because as you

         19  know, we are beginning the enterprise of the long

         20  sought enterprise zone in Chinatown and Lower East

         21  Side. I want to thank you by the way and I want to

         22  thank the Administration for your work with the

         23  Council in bringing this about. It was a long haul,

         24  but we did it.

         25                 This loan fund that you refer to in
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          2  your testimony and if you have covered any of this,

          3  just tell me and I will follow up with the record.

          4  What is the source of the loan fund? How much does

          5  each Empire Zone have and who governors it? And

          6  there is any criteria or is it discretionary up to

          7  the Empire Zone governors?

          8                 MS. CHO: The Empire Zone Program loan

          9  funds so called Statewide Zone Capital Corporation

         10  Loan Fund was created purely for the purpose of

         11  aiding zone certified businesses expansions and sort

         12  of retention within the zone boundaries. Whenever

         13  there is a business wanting to expand within the

         14  boundary and would like to seek a loan outside of

         15  the traditional bank loan, and have difficulty

         16  getting a bank loan, they would usually come to us

         17  because --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: I'm sorry. Us

         19  being --

         20                 MS. CHO: The loan committee of the

         21  Statewide Zone Capital Corporation Loan Fund. It is

         22  a State loan fund.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: It's not

         24  managed by each Empire Zone?

         25                 MS. CHO: No, it's not.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Oh, I see.

          3                 MS. CHO: Each Empire Zone

          4  administrative board has to recommend approval of a

          5  certain applicant. But the final decision and

          6  approval is made by the State Empire Zone Loan Fund

          7  Committee.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Is there a

          9  Statewide cap as to how much is loaned each year?

         10                 MS. CHO: The loan is capped at

         11  $300,000.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: For each loan?

         13                 MS. CHO: For each loan, yes. The loan

         14  size ranges from $30,000 to $300,000. There is no

         15  limit as to how many loans you can ask for as a

         16  business. That cap has been lifted since the

         17  reenactment of the program in 2005.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Finally on

         19  this, it is your experience in general the State

         20  board approves loans recommended by the Empire Zone?

         21                 MS. CHO: Yes.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Okay.

         23                 MS. CHO: And the advantage of the

         24  loan funds, Council Member, is that it is a

         25  character based loan. It takes more into account the
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          2  history of the business rather than just the hard

          3  core cost benefits or analysis.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: You have to be

          5  of good character to qualify? I appreciate that.

          6                 MS. CHO: Sure.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: The 15 to one

          8  ratio, that new requirement that you said, a 15 to

          9  one in terms of State economic benefit. Is criteria

         10  set forth for the purposes of ascertaining whether

         11  or not a perspective certified business meets the 15

         12  to one? Is it 15 tax dollars generated to one dollar

         13  given in tax breaks? Is it $15.00 of economic

         14  activity? What is the $15.00?

         15                 MS. CHO: The $15.00 is the value of

         16  economic activity generated in combination of job

         17  creation and/or investment. For every tax dollar

         18  given, there has to be $15.00 of return to the

         19  State.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Now, this is

         21  important. How do we define $15.00 in return to the

         22  State? Is that measured, for instance, $15.00 in new

         23  wages that are paid to an individual who otherwise

         24  might not have had a job? What is the criteria? This

         25  is very critical because I can see this being used
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          2  to undermine or buttress, either way a lot of what

          3  we're trying to do. But $15.00 in return to the

          4  State, is there any place where it is written what

          5  that means?

          6                 MS. CHO: Yes, it is written into the

          7  legislation of how the calculation is done. It is a

          8  specific formula.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: It is?

         10                 MS. CHO: Yes.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Do you know

         12  that off hand?

         13                 MS. CHO: No, I don't know the

         14  specifics of the formula. But we can definitely

         15  reference back to the legislation.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Okay. So it is

         17  in the legislation. It is not left up to rule

         18  making?

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ: I think

         20  there is rule making that will elaborate on. There

         21  is also local zone --

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: That's what

         23  I'm concerned about.

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ: --

         25  Administration taking into account the development
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          2  plans established by a local zone as to whether that

          3  business is consistent with development plan in

          4  order to get certified.

          5                 MS. CHO: And also I would like to

          6  point out that the local zone administrative board

          7  has the leverage to adjust that 15 to one ratio. We

          8  can lower it, we can make it higher or tougher.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Oh really?

         10                 MS. CHO: The local administrative

         11  board has --

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ: But

         13  subject to State approval.

         14                 MS. CHO: Yes. Although, it is subject

         15  to State approval, we can challenge that 15 to one

         16  ratio depending on what the local circumstance at

         17  that particular time is.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: This is new.

         19  We don't really have much experience with this

         20  requirement --

         21                 MS. CHO: It just came into being.

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ: That is

         23  part of the extension.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: I think we

         25  need watch this, I think, very closely.
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          2                 MS. CHO: Correct.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Finally, in

          4  terms of kind of technical questions and one last

          5  one, Mr. Chair. You mentioned the kind of synergy

          6  and policy between Empire Zones and your

          7  manufacturers encouragement policy, if you will, or

          8  your policy to retain in the manufacturing sector.

          9  Any thoughts of how that might work with respect to

         10  the garment sector in Chinatown which as you know

         11  has been decimated and the aftermath of 9/11 in

         12  part, as a direct result of problems with deliveries

         13  come to and from.

         14                 We have been long sought from the

         15  Administration, both from the City and the State

         16  Administration, support for a fashion place

         17  proposal, for example, that would provide state of

         18  the art manufacturing space for viable businesses in

         19  conjunction with the Empire Zone. If you don't have

         20  the answer to this now, maybe you can get back to us

         21  and to me. But I think it is very critical as we

         22  begin the Empire Zone on the lower side of Chinatown

         23  that we address, that the Administration address,

         24  how it could work specifically with respect to

         25  various proposals to retain the garment center.
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          2  Otherwise, if we don't do that immediately, we will

          3  have missed a critical opportunity.

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ: Thank

          5  you, Council Member. We will follow up with you and

          6  I appreciate the support you gave in creating this

          7  zone. As you mentioned, it was a long time in

          8  coming. We had proposed it in 2002 for an Empire

          9  Zone in Chinatown, Lower East Side and every time we

         10  went up to Albany to discuss what we wanted to see

         11  in the new legislation was to get that Empire Zone

         12  created and we were pleased to see that in providing

         13  for the creation of 12 new zones, it was going to be

         14  over a four year period and that Chinatown is in the

         15  first group of those zones to be created. We are

         16  very pleased with that. Carl Hulm (phonetic) who is

         17  running our industrial manufacturing program, we

         18  will have him in touch with your office to discuss

         19  that.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Terrific.

         21  Let's make the most of this opportunity we fought

         22  hard to obtain. My final question, Mr. Chair, is

         23  just really a follow- up to Council Member Vann's

         24  point because I think Council Member Vann really is

         25  on target in as much as these are tax credits. If
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          2  they are not a direct loss to the City because they

          3  are State tax credits, if the State has less money

          4  ultimately that does impact on the City and as good

          5  citizens we should be concerned about any tax credit

          6  to any level of government. We should be sure if we

          7  are doing that, if we are providing credits, the

          8  benefits are really outweighing the loss in revenue

          9  and the loss of activity which the tax revenue can

         10  go to finance.

         11                 I hope I'm stating the obvious. But

         12  you mentioned that you would have to do some number

         13  crunching in order to respond to some of the points

         14  Council Member Vann raised and I would urge you to

         15  do that number crunching. I guess my question is, do

         16  you have any ongoing process of analysis as you say

         17  in your testimony, we seek to grow and expand these

         18  Empire Zones so we can be sure that we really are

         19  getting a benefit to the economy of the City. That

         20  these businesses really otherwise would not be here,

         21  that the jobs would otherwise not be here and that

         22  there is some tangible benefit as I believe there

         23  will be in the zone of which we just spoke, I think

         24  in probably all zones. I don't want to relay just on

         25  anecdotal evidence. I think there should be some
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          2  rigorous analysis and I hope you would do so and my

          3  last question is do you have any plans to do so.

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ: We

          5  certainly made it clear, I think, that the

          6  businesses, these zones there are the benefits from

          7  these businesses. You asked whether they stayed or

          8  they were going to relocate. Yes, that's absolutely

          9  the case. I was just trying to make clear that if we

         10  talked about whether particular census tracks

         11  changed, poverty rates went up and down, that would

         12  be the different type of analysis. We will look into

         13  more possible analysis can be done along those

         14  lines.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: That's an

         16  important analysis though. You will?

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ: I will

         18  look into it, yes.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Thank you very

         20  much, Mr. Chair.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: I wish to

         22  acknowledge Council Member Weprin who has joined us

         23  and because of another meeting he has to go to you

         24  would have a comment?

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN: I just have a
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          2  comment. One is I want to welcome our new Chair of

          3  Economic Development and this is our first meeting,

          4  right? I'm very proud to be at the inaugural meeting

          5  of Chairman White and look forward to working with

          6  him very closely on the Economic Development

          7  Committee and we work very closely in the Finance

          8  Committee which I chair with Commissioner Rob Walsh

          9  and First Deputy Commissioner Andy Schwartz.

         10                 We have a very close working

         11  relationship and looking forward to continuing that

         12  relationship not only as the Chairman of the Finance

         13  Committee, but as a member of the Economic

         14  Development Committee as well. I'm sure you'll find,

         15  Mr. Chair, that the Office of Small Business

         16  Services is very responsive to our request and our

         17  needs and as we need extra data or statistics or

         18  information, I always find them to be very receptive

         19  and look forward to continuing that.

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ: I

         21  appreciate that, Council Member. And yes, we work

         22  very closely on the creation of approximately nine

         23  business improvement districts in the last four

         24  years. Thank you very much.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Council Member
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          2  Vann.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: Yes, my last

          4  comment. Commissioner, I'm under the impression and

          5  it is my view that poverty is the major cause of a

          6  lot of ills in our society. I think it is a very

          7  serious mission or should be a very serious mission

          8  of government, both City and State, to focus on how

          9  do we begin to eliminate poverty, obviously,

         10  reducing it as we go along. I think that is a very,

         11  very serious mission. I think the fact that we have

         12  census data that we know exactly where the highest

         13  rate of poverty is. We know the people that are

         14  unemployed, where they live, so we can identify "a

         15  zone", a area and know that this is a problem.

         16                 In many of these poverty stricken

         17  communities, there are no big box doors. There are

         18  no major source of employment. There are no major

         19  businesses there that employ a significant number of

         20  people. You may have your hospitals. You have got a

         21  lot of people that there is certain things. In most

         22  cases, there is nothing there, retails stores or so

         23  forth. We are not going to be able to do enough for

         24  any businesses there to make an appreciable

         25  difference in that particular community.
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          2                 I'm thinking we need some other tools

          3  in our arsenal. Not to play down those, they are

          4  doing perhaps what they can do. But if we want do

          5  deal with the essential problems, we need some other

          6  tools in our arsenal. I'm wondering whether or not

          7  the Administration would be supportive of some other

          8  zone, community development zone, call it what you

          9  like, where in the areas where we know the people

         10  are most poverty stricken and in need of employment,

         11  education and so forth that City agencies

         12  collaborate and focus their resources on those

         13  areas. And that we try and tie in where there is

         14  development where jobs are being created anywhere in

         15  the City; that there be some preference in those

         16  identified areas where we know people need jobs,

         17  need training, so and so forth. Is that something

         18  that the Administration could be supportive of as

         19  well?

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ: I think

         21  generally, yes. Again, these zones as you say are

         22  just one tool in the arsenal.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: Right.

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ: It

         25  requires a number of tools. We are certainly always
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          2  looking at the various incentive programs and in

          3  order to streamline them and make them most

          4  effective in terms of helping areas, so yes.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: Thank you,

          6  Commissioner.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Council Member

          8  Viverito.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER VIVERITO: Thank you,

         10  Mr. Chair. The district I represent is district 8

         11  which is East Harlem and also includes part of the

         12  South Bronx. So there is an Empire Zone in my area

         13  and I look forward to the testimony that we are

         14  going to hear from one of the Administrators in that

         15  area. Just to touch a little bit what Council Member

         16  Vann said, taking into account that these zones were

         17  created to alleviate problems in impoverished areas,

         18  primarily. Thanks to the work of our legislative

         19  policy analysis here, I'm looking at some of the

         20  benefits that businesses get in these areas. You see

         21  wage tax credit that says there is a credit for each

         22  newly created job in a zone. There is the investment

         23  tax credit, the employment incentive credit.

         24                 But in terms of all these credits, I

         25  don't see anything that says that credits might be
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          2  given to businesses that hire from within the Zone.

          3  It's is about a creating job. I understand that

          4  about creating a job. But in terms of filling the

          5  job, unless maybe there is information that we need.

          6  I think that might really be something is very

          7  important. If it is already there, great. If not, is

          8  there something we can do to change the language to

          9  really kind of stress that considering that these

         10  zones are in areas that are very much have

         11  structural unemployment. That's one issue that I

         12  wanted maybe answered. You have mentioned about the

         13  data that you will be getting to us.

         14                 I don't know for what period of time

         15  if it is an annual review that is done. I don't know

         16  if you have done any sort of review of the 20 years

         17  of these zones. But within that data is some of the

         18  information about residents from the zones that have

         19  been hired. Because that's obviously something that

         20  would be very important. So just those two questions

         21  if we could get answers. Thank you.

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ: I would

         23  say the wage tax credit that you referred to is a

         24  benefit for businesses that are hiring employees.

         25  They are getting a credit for hiring and the wage
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          2  tax credit is enhanced where the person is from

          3  generally disadvantage area.

          4                 MR. GIAMPIETRO: Not geographically

          5  specific --

          6                 MS. CHO: Economic and public --

          7                 MR. GIAMPIETRO: -- But economically

          8  disadvantaged.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER VIVERITO: Okay,

         10  explain that. Just repeat that, please.

         11                 MR. GIAMPIETRO: Again, the wage tax

         12  credit rewards businesses that meet an employment

         13  test and hire, but not geographically specific.

         14  Again, the jobs are within the area and then they

         15  are rewarded with a higher credit if the employee is

         16  considered economically disadvantaged. But again as

         17  you stated, not specifically a resident of the

         18  Empire Zone.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER VIVERITO: Wouldn't

         20  that be possible to kind of amend that? Let me just

         21  say, if specifically these zones have been put in

         22  areas that have structural unemployment, then I

         23  think the benefit should be to the people that

         24  reside and there should be an additional credit

         25  given to those businesses that hire from within the
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          2  zone. I think that is very important.

          3                 MR. GIAMPIETRO: As actually Andy

          4  stated, we are annually reviewing and analyzing our

          5  various incentives, both the City and State. We go

          6  up chronically to the State and basically --

          7  regularly to the State and with our suggested

          8  changes. We have worked with the Council in the past

          9  to determine if certain amendments should be

         10  presented and I think this one that we should really

         11  consider.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER VIVERITO: Very much.

         13  Because then you would see a tangible benefit to the

         14  surrounding area. Believe me, I'm going to fight for

         15  this because clearly my community is affected and my

         16  district is affected. I think that is one way that

         17  we could tangibly see results and the power of these

         18  zones. That's one thing I think would make logical

         19  sense. But with regards to the data that you would

         20  make available to the committee?

         21                 MS. CHO: Data are collected on an

         22  annual basis and the zone annual report and those

         23  data are collected by the State administrating

         24  agency economic empire state development

         25  corporation. Then they disseminate them and share

                                                            56

          1  COMMITTEE ON ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

          2  them with the municipalities. Right now, there are

          3  in the process of tabulating 2004 data. As soon as

          4  their tabulation of the data is finished, we will

          5  definitely share with you a copy.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER VIVERITO: No, I

          7  appreciate that. But I'm saying in terms of the data

          8  that is collected with regards to the jobs created,

          9  we can have numbers. But does it delineate

         10  specifically the number of jobs that have been

         11  created within the zone?

         12                 MS. CHO: Yes.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER VIVERITO: Okay. That's

         14  what I wanted.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: I would join with

         16  Council Member VIVERITO and Council Member Vann in

         17  terms of all the committees concerned in terms of

         18  the unemployment. But based on listening to her and

         19  Council Member Vann, it would seem to me that there

         20  is already tax credit given by virtual of if you are

         21  dealing with the real estate value in a depressed

         22  and deprived area, you can get it rather cheap.

         23  Within the context of purchasing and investing, that

         24  particular piece of property or where you plan to

         25  locate a business would be more expensive in another
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          2  area that was not a blighted area.

          3                 It would seem to me that there should

          4  be somewhat of a tier system percentage wise or the

          5  number of employees that if you live within the

          6  boundaries of the zone that you might be given a

          7  number of points and considerations above the

          8  individual that might come for employment outside

          9  the zone. That's just a suggestion.

         10                 We will follow that at a subsequent

         11  meeting and we will focus in on that and hopefully

         12  we will have the information and we will have the

         13  Department of Labor here as well so we can take a

         14  look at that. I have a question to ask you in terms

         15  of within the application of the regional

         16  significant projects, provisions for the new law. Is

         17  the downtown Wall Street area being considered as a

         18  regional significant project?

         19                 MS. CHO: Determination of regional

         20  significant project is on a case by case basis. It

         21  is not geographic determination. The category was

         22  created to incentivize any investment project or a

         23  business development opportunity that creates jobs

         24  or investment types for the benefit of the zone even

         25  though it is outside the geographical boundaries of
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          2  the zone. The burden of proof is on the business and

          3  also the zone administrative board reviews that

          4  burden of proof presented by the business that says,

          5  I can bring certain amount of investment and job

          6  creation to the zone and directly impact a zone

          7  positively by doing so. And, therefore, consider me

          8  as a business that is strategically and regionally

          9  significant to the well- being of the zone.

         10                 For example, a pharmaceutical company

         11  doing research and development in East Harlem, but

         12  the company location happens to be three or four

         13  blocks away from the legal boundaries of the zone,

         14  the jobs and investment created by that company can

         15  be regionally significant to the zone if the zone

         16  residents actually get those jobs and investment in

         17  that three block radius impacts the poverty level or

         18  sort of reduces the poverty level. We can certify

         19  such business even though it is outside the boundary

         20  and it doesn't eat into the acreage limit of the

         21  zone administration.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Because the new

         23  legislation mentions industries that include

         24  financial, services, insurance and investment

         25  services as their primary business.
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ: That

          3  would be a criteria for a regionally significant

          4  project. It is possible. I think that Yoonie is

          5  saying is that these are on a case by case basis as

          6  to whether these projects would come within this new

          7  definition of regionally significant project.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Are there any

          9  other questions? Let me thank you for taking the

         10  time to come before the Committee and we shall meet

         11  again. Have a good day.

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ: Thank

         13  you too, Chairman and we look forward to it. Thank

         14  you.

         15                 MS. CHO: Thank you.

         16                 MR. GIAMPIETRO: Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Our next guest

         18  will be Sandra De Leon, East Harlem Business Capital

         19  Group.

         20                 MS. DE LEON: Good morning.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Good morning. Do

         22  you have copies of your testimony?

         23                 MS. DE LEON: Yes, it is being

         24  circulated.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Why don't I do
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          2  this here? Why don't I ask also Richard Werber from

          3  the Greater Jamaica Development Corporation along

          4  with Neil Pariser. We're joined by another Council

          5  Person, Council Member James. Ms. De Leon.

          6                 MS. DE LEON: Good morning. My name is

          7  Sandra De Leon. First, and foremost, I am life long

          8  resident of East Harlem. In addition, I am the

          9  Deputy Director of the East Harlem Business Capital

         10  Corporation and, in that capacity, I also serve as

         11  the Coordinator of East Harlem's Empire Zone. I am

         12  pleased to provide testimony on behalf of the recent

         13  changes in New York State's Empire Zone Law, and

         14  wish to speak on the implications for New York City,

         15  as well as on our upcoming East Harlem Boundary

         16  expansion. I wish to thank you for the opportunity

         17  to do so.

         18                 As you may know, the East Harlem

         19  Business Capital Corporation took on the

         20  administration of the East Harlem Empire Zone in

         21  January 2001. As an economic development

         22  organization, we assumed the obligation because we

         23  understood that Empire Zone incentives were an

         24  important tool in our arsenal to revitalize East

         25  Harlem through the creation of jobs and the
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          2  development and expansion of local businesses.

          3                 EHBCC is a certified community

          4  development financial institution and a SBA

          5  designated micro lender. We provide access to

          6  capital through out lending program and offer

          7  business and credit counseling, technical

          8  assistance, and technology training. Our signature

          9  bilingual, 16 week entrepreneurial training course,

         10  BusinessWise, has successfully graduated dozens of

         11  entrepreneurs in East Harlem. Our SBA Prime Program

         12  targets low- income residents for business and

         13  entrepreneurial assistance. Besides its New York

         14  State Empire Zone status, East Harlem is also within

         15  a Federal Empowerment Zone, which offers federal tax

         16  incentives. All in all, East Harlem is moving.

         17                 Under the previous Empire Zone

         18  legislation, EHBCC was able to achieve positive

         19  results on behalf of the East Harlem community.

         20  First, EHBCC initially assumed responsibility for

         21  the Empire Zone with few certified businesses. Now,

         22  there are 34 Empire Zone certified businesses, which

         23  include many of the major developments coming into

         24  the area such as the Harlem Auto Mall, Harlem Park,

         25  and the East River Plaza.
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          2                 In 2004 alone, Empire Zone certified

          3  businesses made investments totaling $19,117,914 in

          4  the East Harlem through new construction and

          5  renovation projects, real property acquisitions, and

          6  the purchase of production and office equipment. Six

          7  hundred and forty- eight new jobs were also created.

          8  With the use of Empire Zone credits, a local not-

          9  for- profit entity used $140,000 in credits to

         10  leverage $560,000 in donations. And finally, the

         11  East Harlem Empire Zone as a result of the first

         12  ever boundary expansion grew from an initial 105

         13  acres to 822 acres, out of an allowable 1,280 acres.

         14  Clearly, the Empire Zone Program is an excellent

         15  program for distressed communities such as East

         16  Harlem.

         17                 The new legislation effective April

         18  1, 2005, has implemented several measures that are

         19  designed to strengthen the program making it more

         20  publicly accountable with additional checks and

         21  balances and reviews to ensure that the program is

         22  not abused. However, I believe, I share the same

         23  concern as many of my colleagues.

         24                 First of all, while East Harlem is

         25  currently experiencing big projects coming into the
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          2  area, many of my Empire Zone certified businesses,

          3  in keeping with the flavor of the neighborhood, are

          4  smaller businesses that have survived tough economic

          5  times and are poised to expand. The advent of our

          6  Empire Zone expansion afforded them an opportunity

          7  to grow and take advantage of these good incentives.

          8  My concern is that the new legislation, with new and

          9  more stringent requirements, is making it harder for

         10  these smaller businesses to become Empire zone

         11  certified.

         12                 Secondly, the demands of the new

         13  legislation require significant additional duties of

         14  the Empire Zone Coordinators. It requires more

         15  documentation, additional assistance to applicants,

         16  cost benefit analyses prior to approval, more

         17  intense evaluation of results and accountability as

         18  it relates to compliance by certified businesses to

         19  job creation/expansion projections. In other words,

         20  hundreds of hours of more effort without sufficient

         21  administrative funding to responsibly complete these

         22  tasks, makes for a slippery slope that undermines

         23  the very essence and purpose of the new legislation.

         24                 Finally, the trend over the last

         25  several years, unfortunately, has been to decrease
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          2  administrative funding. For example, this year, the

          3  Governor's budget does not allocate administrative

          4  funds for Empire Zones. Locally, there are no

          5  specific funds earmarked for the Empire Zones in the

          6  City. I would ask for your support in efforts to

          7  provide adequate administrative funds to the

          8  Coordinators that are on the front lines every day

          9  working with these business and drawing down State,

         10  and often, Federal incentives to catalyze business

         11  expansion and create jobs.

         12                 In conclusion, the Empire Zone

         13  Program is an effective economic development tool,

         14  and we in East Harlem are just beginning to see the

         15  fruits of these tax incentives. We hope that in its

         16  reform, through the new legislation, it continues to

         17  be a valuable asset to East Harlem and the City. I

         18  wish to thank the Economic Development Committee of

         19  the City Council for their interest and involvement

         20  in this issue, and for the opportunity given to the

         21  East Harlem Empire Zone to testify. I'd be happy to

         22  answer any questions.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: What I think I'm

         24  going to do since you are all in the same business

         25  is to allow the three of you to give your testimony
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          2  and then we will go to questions.

          3                 MR. WERBER: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

          4  Good day, Mr. Chairman and Committee members and

          5  Council Staff. I'm Richard Werber. I'm the Director

          6  of Business and Industrial Development for Greater

          7  Jamaica Development Corporation. Thank you for this

          8  opportunity to speak with you about the changes in

          9  the New York State Empire Zone program. As the local

         10  administrator for the Jamaica Empire Zone, Greater

         11  Jamaica Development Corporation, can most easily

         12  speak to the issues of how the changes are affecting

         13  our administrative responsibilities and how we

         14  expect it to affect the types of companies that we

         15  work with.

         16                 Currently, there are 92 companies in

         17  our area that are zone certified and therefore,

         18  eligible for benefits. They provide a total of 3,466

         19  full time jobs as of 2004, which is the last year

         20  for which data was available. Of the 92 zone

         21  certified companies, seven are women- or minority-

         22  owned; 40 had 10 or fewer employees and over half

         23  had 20 or fewer employees.

         24                 We are pleased to report that the

         25  program audit of the 2001, 2002 period conducted by
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          2  the Office of the New York State Comptroller in 2004

          3  found that the Jamaica Empire Zone was a success in

          4  job creation, having added over 200 jobs during an

          5  extremely difficult time for the City of New York.

          6  Clearly, the tax credits available through the

          7  Empire Zone program have been an invaluable tool for

          8  supporting redevelopment and local employment.

          9                 The first, very positive, impact of

         10  the new law is that it allows us to re- set our

         11  Empire Zone boundaries. This presents us with an

         12  opportunity to propose an expansion of our

         13  geographic boundaries, especially in regards to

         14  leveraging the City's newly proposed boundaries for

         15  industrial business zones. However, we expect that

         16  the new Empire Zone legislation will make it more

         17  difficult for firms within these boundaries,

         18  especially small firms, to complete applications for

         19  zone certification. Similarly, once an application

         20  is completed and submitted, the new legislation will

         21  make it more difficult for firms to qualify for

         22  Empire Zone benefits.

         23                 The previous application was five

         24  pages long, required two- year projections of job

         25  growth and investment, and a basic business
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          2  rationalization supporting those growth and

          3  investment projections. The new application is nine

          4  pages long, requires four- year projections of job

          5  growth and investments, and detailed descriptions of

          6  types of jobs to be added, when, and salary ranges.

          7  The instructions for filling out last year's

          8  applications was five pages long. It is now 16 pages

          9  long.

         10                 All of this application information

         11  is boiled down to a state calculated cost- benefit

         12  analysis comparing projected tax credits to

         13  projected economic impact. The analysis uses a

         14  spreadsheet with embedded formulas provided by

         15  Empire State Development Corporation. In some

         16  circumstances, it is possible that a company may

         17  bring jobs into an economically disadvantaged area,

         18  but still not qualify for benefits because they will

         19  fail this cost- benefit analysis. In addition, to

         20  qualify for benefits, companies must now be in

         21  specified sectors and meet growth guidelines

         22  established by a local zone development policy.

         23                 Historically, zone administrators

         24  were in place to educate and assist local firms. The

         25  new legislation, with its short term requirement to
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          2  resubmit all documentation to recreate existing

          3  Empire Zones or expand them; the commensurate need

          4  to promote the program to new firms within an

          5  expanded boundary; its requirement that each local

          6  zone administrative board draw up rules for

          7  excluding applicants and the need of local

          8  administrators to work within them; it still complex

          9  tax credit provisions and increasingly complex

         10  application of paperwork all speak to a greater need

         11  for, expertise from, and effort by local zone

         12  administrators.

         13                 At the same time, the State is moving

         14  toward decreasing administrative funding for

         15  individual zones. Governor Pataki's proposed budget

         16  zeros out administrative funding altogether. And if

         17  we were simply to return to its current level, $2.3

         18  million Statewide, this would be tantamount to a

         19  decrease since the number of zones allowed in the

         20  State will be increasing substantially beyond the 72

         21  in existence during the last funding cycle. We ask

         22  for your support and to work with the State to

         23  increase funding for program administration.

         24                 Regarding broader areas of concern

         25  where City Council or Mayoral actions may positively
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          2  affect the program, we would like to draw your

          3  attention to the fact that the new legislation left

          4  untouched the original statement of intent for the

          5  Empire Zone program. It is to "promote the

          6  development of new businesses, the expansion of

          7  existing businesses and the development of human

          8  resources within economically impoverished areas."

          9  And by law, Empire Zones must still be in areas with

         10  nearby populations that are economically

         11  disadvantaged. But the need to meet a cost benefit

         12  goal and be a business aligned with policies that

         13  are separate for measures of economic disadvantage

         14  reflect a fundamental shift in the Empire Zone

         15  program.

         16                 Reasonable people may disagree about

         17  whether this is a good thing or not, weighing the

         18  interests of business, the State's tax payers and

         19  economic development goals and philosophy, but it is

         20  worthy of consideration by all of us involved in the

         21  program. There is also a totally new concept in the

         22  new legislation: The concept of regionally

         23  significant projects. This part of the law allows

         24  for the creation of an Empire Zone outside its

         25  established geographic area.
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          2                 If, for example, a manufacturer

          3  projects the creation of 50 or more jobs in

          4  Southeast Queens, but outside the Jamaica Zone

          5  boundaries, we could work with the company and our

          6  local administrative board to submit an application

          7  asking the State to designate the property on which

          8  the company operates an Empire Zone because the

          9  legislation defines the creation of 50 or more

         10  manufacturing jobs as regionally significant.

         11                 This presents both an opportunity and

         12  a challenge. Although the legislation is clear about

         13  the number of jobs by sector that must be created

         14  for a business's operations to be considered

         15  regionally significant, the definitions of sector

         16  may have some fluidity. Will the regulations

         17  defining manufacturer, for example, be strict? Or

         18  can it include related sectors, such as shipping and

         19  wholesale distribution which are designated for

         20  special attention by the Mayor's Office of

         21  Industrial and Manufacturing Businesses.

         22                 Similarly, the new legislation has

         23  employment number thresholds for agri- business,

         24  high- tech, and other categories. Although Public

         25  Authorities Law Section 3102- e defines emerging
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          2  technology industrial classifications, does this

          3  section cover all that New York City would want to

          4  include as high tech? What will be included in

          5  agribusiness? I leave that to other, more

          6  knowledgeable people to consider, but we think it is

          7  worthy of review.

          8                 In conclusion, we want to acknowledge

          9  once again the value of the Empire Zone program to

         10  the companies that have accessed it and its

         11  effectiveness as an economic development tool. And

         12  we want to thank the members of the Economic

         13  Development Committee for their time and their

         14  attention to the issues and opportunities presented

         15  by the recent changes in New York's Empire Zone Law.

         16  Thank you.

         17                 MR. PARISER: Good morning. My name is

         18  Neil Pariser and I'm the Senior Vice President of

         19  SoBRO, South Bronx Overall Economic Development

         20  Corporation; a community based organization which

         21  has administered the State's Empire Zone's program

         22  in the Port Morris section of the Bronx since its

         23  inception. Thank you for giving me the opportunity

         24  to share with you today SoBRO's perspective on the

         25  importance of your supporting and enhancing the New
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          2  York State's Empire Zones program and making it a

          3  program which is both easily accessible to and

          4  meaningful for our local manufacturers.

          5                 As you all know, the importance of

          6  our City's industrial base cannot be understated. In

          7  fact, the Mayor's newly announced Industrial

          8  Business Zone's program, a long overdue and much

          9  needed statement of support for maintaining and

         10  growing our City's industrial base serves the case

         11  in point. As the Mayor recently stated, The City's

         12  industrial base has declined, along with many other

         13  American cities, but the industry remains a powerful

         14  engine of our economy and it is 500,000 jobs

         15  represented about 15 percent of our workforce. The

         16  new IBZ is a major initiative which seeks not merely

         17  to maintain, but actively grow our industrial base

         18  through a City investment that is estimated to cost

         19  $17 million through 2009; as well as the proposed

         20  additional $9 million in tax incentives.

         21                 The Mayor's IBZ policy directly

         22  mirrors the feelings of many of the speakers you

         23  will hear from today who have for years struggled to

         24  work with and support their local industry knowing

         25  full well the enormous impact it makes in our
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          2  communities by providing employment for tens of

          3  thousands of New York City workers. As community

          4  based organizations who have actively supported and

          5  administered the Empire Zones program, we all have

          6  our individual success stories to tell you in

          7  regards to our both attracting new industries as

          8  well as retaining existing firms.

          9                 We have as well our failures as well

         10  as frustrations with the program which we have

         11  likewise endured. Despite this, we all share one

         12  view that the tax incentives which the State

         13  sponsored Empire Zone program has provided us over

         14  the years, have been a major element in our ability

         15  to attract new and stabilize our existing industrial

         16  base. It is a major economic development tool and

         17  one which cannot be understated.

         18                 The new laws promulgated to

         19  restructure the EZ program have, in our opinion,

         20  both their pluses and minuses. On the plus side, we

         21  are delighted to see that New York State recognizes

         22  the need for providing us with the ability to

         23  rationalize existing EZ boundaries allowing us to

         24  add new industrial areas formerly overlooked by the

         25  program. For the first time, we will be in a
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          2  position to redefine our EZ eligible communities by

          3  adding industrial areas that were formerly

          4  ineligible due to programmatic restraints relating

          5  to geographic size of the zone. In SoBRO's case, we

          6  look forward to expanding zone benefits to a host of

          7  new companies located in and around the Bathgate

          8  Industrial Park.

          9                 Several of the new Statewide

         10  legislative changes we feel will unfortunately prove

         11  detrimental to our cause. For the purposes of

         12  brevity, I would like to focus on a single issue;

         13  that of administrative changes in the revised EZ

         14  certification process. The former EZ process, a

         15  procedure which tested the eligibility of companies

         16  to receive EZ tax credits, has unfortunately shifted

         17  under the new legislation from a basic two year

         18  business employment projection, a time tested method

         19  used as part of the criteria to qualify companies

         20  for transactions ranging from something as simple as

         21  a bank line of credit to a more advanced multi-

         22  million dollar City sponsored industrial development

         23  agency bond issue, into a convoluted cost- benefit

         24  ratio which at the end of the day will disqualify

         25  many of our local firms from being eligible for EZ
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          2  benefits.

          3                 Unfortunately, this directly

          4  translates into a lost opportunity to create

          5  thousands of new jobs Citywide. Not surprisingly, we

          6  predict the impact will be greatest on the small

          7  manufacturing sector since they are the ones that

          8  most need to rely on the increased cash flow from

          9  the EZ tax benefits to fuel new employment. While we

         10  must respect the position of officials in Albany,

         11  who seek to make the EZ program maximally cost

         12  efficient throughout New York State by imposing the

         13  new cost- benefit ratio as the test of

         14  certification, we would like to proffer the

         15  suggestion that in the case of New York City, with

         16  our unique multi- faceted and complex industrial

         17  communities, that the City Council and the Mayor

         18  urge the State to consider revised legislation

         19  allowing an alternate approach to the City

         20  certification process.

         21                 Specifically, we would suggest the

         22  State consider allowing the Office of Industrial and

         23  Manufacturing Businesses, part of the City's

         24  Department of Small Business Services and the entity

         25  now charged with growing our City's manufacturing
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          2  base under the Mayor's newly announced industrial

          3  Business Zone's policy, to be responsible for

          4  vetting EZ firms on the State's behalf under and

          5  enhanced criteria it establishes in consultation

          6  with the State; criteria largely based on the

          7  original EZ certification, but a criteria which

          8  none- the- less reflects the need of the State to

          9  ensure fiscal soundness while at the same time

         10  reflecting the unique needs of the industrial base

         11  of our City which only we know best. Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Thank you. Let me

         13  first start off by saying that there seems to be a

         14  need, it didn't say in terms of dollars and cents,

         15  this is administrative individuals over the zones.

         16  The zone administrators appears to be overworked; it

         17  appears to underpaid or not paid. With the addition

         18  of the additional paperwork under the new law from

         19  five pages to 15, it seems to pose a burden on the

         20  job that you have to do. Could you explain to me how

         21  that takes affect? Because what I'm looking at is

         22  the Comptroller's report of things not being able to

         23  be measured and my colleagues here and we're

         24  speaking and asking about employment. Employment has

         25  been mentioned by everyone who seeks these zones.
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          2  That is the tail end of the discussion; creating new

          3  employment.

          4                 The zone going into a under service

          5  area or a blighted area to stimulate the economy in

          6  that area and an incentive for businesses to stay,

          7  for businesses to come and for businesses to bring

          8  in new employment. Yet and still, there seems to be

          9  a number of issues or in terms of questions that has

         10  to be answered. Because the answers could be there,

         11  but nobody knows collectively knowing and can agree

         12  on. One, the accountability and the measurability of

         13  the program after a year's time. Two, the impact of

         14  these tax credits and incentives that is going into

         15  the communities and no benefit can be shown where

         16  the residents of these zones live are benefitting

         17  from that relocation and investments.

         18                 Number three, no one seems to be able

         19  to deal with the auditing milestone piece that says,

         20  we've done this, we've done this, we've done this,

         21  we've hired x amount of people and we have invested

         22  x amount of dollars. The only thing that I can

         23  honestly say, we have created an opportunity for

         24  businesses to do better in the City of New York by

         25  creating these zones. The zones want to be
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          2  regionalized and I believe in one of the

          3  testimonies, you have to be in close proximity, but

          4  necessarily in the zone to do business. All of this

          5  seems to be like a one way street, not reaching the

          6  resident in that geographical area. It's nice to

          7  hear business expanding. It's nice to hear that

          8  businesses are making profits. It's nice to keep

          9  businesses in the City of New York. I support that

         10  100 percent.

         11                 We have to move on a parallel track

         12  and the City of New York is comprised of people. As

         13  the City does good, so should the people of New

         14  York. Like they have this saying in education, no

         15  child left behind. Well, in terms of business we

         16  don't want no unemployed person left behind. We want

         17  employed people to keep up with the mergence of

         18  business and business opportunity. I'm just saying

         19  that to say that the question is, how much would it

         20  cost or what are you really asking for and you

         21  didn't put a number on it, for to add to their

         22  administrative work that you say went from five

         23  pages to 15?

         24                 MS. DE LEON: I'm sure that my

         25  colleagues will answer this also. But let me take a
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          2  crack at it, Council person.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Okay.

          4                 MS. DE LEON: Let me just give you a

          5  couple of numbers. For fiscal year 2004/2005, our

          6  zone in East Harlem received $22,810 to administer

          7  the zone. For this year, that amount has increased

          8  to $40,210 for fiscal year '05/'06. In terms of the

          9  work that is involved, I believe that both my

         10  colleagues and myself have already indicated, we

         11  work with the companies in terms of doing the

         12  paperwork. We work with the companies in terms of in

         13  my case, I try to help some companies identify

         14  commercial space to come into. I also work with them

         15  in terms of facilitating their access to the

         16  Business Solution Center to identify employees.

         17                 I have to say that in East Harlem, we

         18  are fortunate that we also have the Federal

         19  Empowerment Zone. And the Federal Empowerment Zone

         20  which has some of the same incentives as the State,

         21  one of the things that they require in order for you

         22  to be qualified for their Empowerment Zone tax

         23  incentives, is that the individuals that you hire be

         24  a part of the Empowerment Zone. Now I have to

         25  clarify that a little bit.
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          2                 The Empowerment Zone that covers East

          3  Harlem does not cover all of East Harlem. So that

          4  you actually have areas of East Harlem that are both

          5  Empowerment Zone, Federal, and Empire Zone, State.

          6  If a business is fortunate enough that in that

          7  particular area, then they can have access to both

          8  State benefits and Federal benefits and since I know

          9  what those boundaries are, I often work with the

         10  businesses to make sure that they contact the Feds,

         11  the Empowerment Zone and basically access those

         12  benefits as well. I explain to them clearly that it

         13  is in their best interest to hire locally.

         14                 But the Empowerment Zone in East

         15  Harlem that covers East Harlem, also covers central

         16  and west Harlem, Washington Heights and the South

         17  Bronx so that I cannot tell a company you must

         18  strictly hire from East Harlem. Because they are

         19  free to access the Federal benefits if the person

         20  lives in Washington Heights or in the South Bronx.

         21  So there is a dichotomy there. There is a slight

         22  dilemma.

         23                 In terms of the questions that have

         24  been asked of Andy Schwartz and Yoonie Cho, with

         25  whom I certainly work very well, it is important
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          2  that you know that we try as much as possible to

          3  have the businesses that are located in East Harlem

          4  that are certified hire locally. Now there is a

          5  difference. Wherever I have a small business, a Mom

          6  and Pop shop, it has been my experience that they

          7  normally hire locally. It is in their best interest

          8  to have someone who lives down the block open up

          9  their business. So they hire locally.

         10                 In terms of the bigger businesses,

         11  however, some of the businesses that I mentioned

         12  that are coming into the area, I frankly think that

         13  we need more strength, we need more teeth to

         14  actually make them hire locally. We have a

         15  development policy, an Empire Zone Development

         16  Policy and as part of that development policy, we

         17  have indicated that there has to be a certain

         18  percentage of jobs that come to people that are

         19  residents in the neighborhood.

         20                 The other thing that I wanted to

         21  explain is that part of the business annual review

         22  form that was earlier alluded too, there is a survey

         23  attached to that. When that survey comes back, for

         24  example, for the year 2005, part of that survey asks

         25  what zip code do your employees reside in. So I
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          2  could certainly make that information available if

          3  anyone is interested in terms of East Harlem. That's

          4  how we know how many employees actually live in the

          5  neighborhood.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Thank you. Could

          7  you send that to us please?

          8                 MS. DE LEON: Absolutely.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: How you go about

         10  that?

         11                 MS. DE LEON: You mean the business

         12  annual review form and the survey?

         13                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Yes.

         14                 MS. DE LEON: Yes.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Okay.

         16                 MS. DE LEON: I could make that

         17  available.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: I just want to ask

         19  you one question here. If you are the State

         20  Empowerment Zone, who applies for the Federal

         21  Empowerment Zone?

         22                 MS. DE LEON: No, it is the Federal

         23  Empowerment Zone and the State Empire Zone.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Empire Zone.

         25                 MS. DE LEON: If you are asking who

                                                            83

          1  COMMITTEE ON ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

          2  requests Empowerment Zone benefits, I try to get any

          3  certified business that is Empire Zone certified or

          4  that is looking to become Empire Zone certified if

          5  they are also within the Empowerment Zone which

          6  overlaps. Empire Zone, Empowerment Zone, wherever

          7  they are in both areas, I try to hook them so that

          8  they actually apply for Empowerment Zone benefits. I

          9  have to tell you also that a lot of the businesses,

         10  it sometimes easier if you work with their

         11  accountants rather than the business themselves.

         12  Because it is the accountants, particularly good

         13  accountants that know this program that are able to

         14  say yes, you are eligible for this, let me access

         15  that. Let me ensure that you actually get as many

         16  benefits as you can.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Okay.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER VIVERITO: Thank you,

         19  Mr. Chairman. First of all, I want to commend you,

         20  Ms. De Leon and the East Harlem Business Capital

         21  Corp for the work that you are doing in East Harlem.

         22  I think it is very much commendable and as the new

         23  elected official for this area, I'm very much

         24  interested in working in partnership to ensure

         25  maximum benefit to the residents of East Harlem.
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          2                 Having said that, I think the

          3  question I posed to Deputy Commissioner about having

          4  some sort of additional credit incentive for those

          5  companies based in the zone that are also going to

          6  hire residents from the zone. Understanding what you

          7  said about the Empowerment Zone, then those

          8  companies that are based in East Harlem, for

          9  instance, if they have that additional credit, then

         10  the incentive would be there for them to hire

         11  locally. I think that is something that I would

         12  really want to encourage as we move forward.

         13                 With regards to the question here

         14  about the administrative fees, clearly the way I see

         15  this is that this is unfunded mandate. In essence,

         16  you are being given additional responsibilities

         17  without the financial support. Is that correct?

         18                 MS. DE LEON: That's right.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER VIVERITO: I think that

         20  as the Chairman has said that if in some ways -- I

         21  really surprised that you are saying that the

         22  administrative fee now is $40,000 for all the work

         23  that is being done.

         24                 MS. DE LEON: For my zone.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER VIVERITO: Right.
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          2                 MS. DE LEON: Other zones have

          3  different funding.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER VIVERITO: I guess if

          5  there is a way that we could get a financial figure

          6  in totality, I guess, for what we would want in New

          7  York City. That's maybe something we could do in

          8  terms as we try to leverage at the State level or

          9  encourage the legislators to really increase the

         10  funding that's available. I don't know who that

         11  would fall upon in terms of that, I guess it would

         12  be kind of helpful to us if we had an understanding

         13  financially what it is that we be asking for.

         14                 MS. DE LEON: That's probably

         15  something that I guess you could work with the

         16  Department of Small Business Services.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER VIVERITO: And they

         18  could let us know.

         19                 MS. DE LEON: Correct.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER VIVERITO: Great. Thank

         21  you. Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Thank you.

         23                 MR. PARISER: May I just comment on

         24  thing that the Councilwoman said? I want you to

         25  understand that when we look at creating the zone
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          2  boundaries, we each work within a confine of two

          3  square miles. There is no incentive there for to

          4  include residential areas in your zone. I hear what

          5  you are saying in that you want a tiered system. I

          6  think that makes sense. In the case of the

          7  Empowerment Zone, yes, the only way you can qualify

          8  someone for a tax incentive is if they are an

          9  Empowerment Zone resident.

         10                 When the Empire Zone program was

         11  first started 20 years ago, there was a proximity

         12  requirement that in order to fulfill a job, fill a

         13  job within the zone, the individual had to be living

         14  within a certain distance from it. I would suggest

         15  that you go back to something like that and I think

         16  that makes a lot of sense. But understand it makes

         17  no sense when all you had is two square miles and

         18  you are trying to work a lot of businesses and grow

         19  a lot of businesses, you're not going to zone

         20  residential properties in them. You are going to

         21  exclude them intentionally. I just wanted to be

         22  clear on that.

         23                 The other thing is that at least I

         24  know in SoBRO's case and in Jamaica and East Harlem,

         25  clearly we're in this not to make money. Because
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          2  there is no contract you get in government that you

          3  make money as a not- for- profit. You lose money on

          4  every contract. It is a absolute quid pro quo. We,

          5  SoBRO, subsidize each and every contract we get.

          6  Otherwise, we would never be able to provide any

          7  services.

          8                 When we entered into the Empire's

          9  Zone program, Port Morris was a profoundly different

         10  place. It was the bon fire of the vanity. It was

         11  Sherman McCall. It was fires on the horizon. I think

         12  over the past 20 years, I think Councilman Vann said

         13  it best. You don't know what it would have been if

         14  we didn't have that program. It is kind of like,

         15  it's a wonderful life. I don't know what Port Morris

         16  would have been. But it certainly would not be as

         17  good and as solid as it is today.

         18                 How do we quantify it when

         19  unfortunately a lot of the data we are required to

         20  get is in the hands of the State. We don't even have

         21  access to it. If the Department of Labor has to

         22  provide zip codes, we do ask companies, but

         23  companies are busy. They are manufacturing their

         24  widgets and they are sewing their garments. They

         25  don't always give us the type of feedback we would
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          2  like. In our case, we try to place as many people as

          3  we can into every company in our area. We will

          4  certify everybody. As long as that company doesn't

          5  move, we want to certify you.

          6                 Why? Because we believe if we can

          7  increase your cash flow, at the bottom of the day,

          8  you are going to hire people. And there is a better

          9  chance in manufacturing sector that the person that

         10  works there is not going to drive 20 miles for

         11  manufacturing job. It is going to be proximate.

         12  We're comfortable that the test of have you really

         13  helped the community, yes we have. How do I quantify

         14  it? I wish I knew. It would seem to me that more

         15  dialogue between the State and the City on trying to

         16  get some of this information which the State has

         17  would help us as well. Thank you.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER VIVERITO: Just to add

         19  something that I forget to mention before and I

         20  thank you for that was that my concern here in terms

         21  of the testimony that I've heard is that when these

         22  kind of programs are set up or these zones are set

         23  up, it is the intention of really benefitting

         24  impoverished areas or areas that need to address

         25  structural unemployment or small businesses and then
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          2  when you create these layers, in your testimony, you

          3  indicated clearly that your fear is that it is the

          4  small businesses that are going to suffer this. And

          5  they may not be able to apply or they may not be

          6  given the tax credits or the credit authorization

          7  and certification. That really concerns me.

          8                 We have a lot of overdevelopment and

          9  a lot of development that is happening in East

         10  Harlem and a lot of them are large corporations that

         11  clearly have the infrastructure and have the

         12  personnel and have the money to hire people that can

         13  specifically allocate to making sure that they get

         14  every benefit that is available to them. That is not

         15  the case with the small businesses. That's my

         16  concern. I think that small businesses are vital. We

         17  know that in the City as a whole they are and local

         18  communities, I think that they are very important

         19  because they have the roots in the community.

         20                 It really helps to address some of

         21  the problems that we have been addressing here with

         22  regards to unemployment; more immediately they

         23  address it. That's of concern to me too and to see

         24  in what ways we can encourage greater administrative

         25  fees that some maybe additional personnel are
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          2  provide to provide that assistance to the small

          3  business so that they don't lose out on something

          4  that in essence was created to benefit them more

          5  primarily. That's of concern to me as well. Thank

          6  you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: In your testimony,

          8  you mentioned the fact that Governor Pataki proposed

          9  a budget zero to zero out administrative funding

         10  altogether?

         11                 MR. WERBER: That's correct.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: And that it would

         13  simply return it and if we were to simply return it

         14  to its current level as $2.3 million Statewide?

         15                 MR. WERBER: That's correct. That's

         16  the last funding cycle.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Okay. This would

         18  tantamount to be a decrease since the number of

         19  zones allowed in the State would be increasing

         20  substantially beyond the 72 in existence during the

         21  last funding cycle.

         22                 MR. WERBER: That's also correct.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Okay. Seventy- two

         24  to what?

         25                 MR. WERBER: Well, we have I think two

                                                            91

          1  COMMITTEE ON ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

          2  in Long Island that will just be coming on and I

          3  can't give you the specifics, but I remember the

          4  legislation allowing for a fairly substantial number

          5  to be created each year going forward. I believe the

          6  goal is have at least one Empire Zone in every

          7  county and the State.

          8                 MR. PARISER: See in general

          9  throughout the State, the entities that control the

         10  zones -- the entities that represent in our case, we

         11  are a local development corporation. It is mostly

         12  municipalities. Whereas the City of New York uses

         13  LDC's because we are down there at the neighborhood

         14  level, if I want to Utica it is probably the Mayor's

         15  office which administers the program. So they are

         16  not as stretched for the money as we are. So when

         17  there is a Statewide cut on the administrative

         18  funding, well, you are cutting a little bit out of

         19  City hall. Whereas, at the local level when you are

         20  a local development corporation, a not- for- profit,

         21  it is a much deeper cut.

         22                 MR. WERBER: All of this is also laid

         23  over with a relatively new approach by the State

         24  which is not to distribute the money equally among

         25  all zones, but instead to do an evaluation of each
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          2  zone's performance on some criteria which perhaps

          3  could use some revisiting. So each zone might get a

          4  different percentage of the total pie. And that also

          5  leaves each zone at the beginning of each year, even

          6  under current conditions, not knowing what their

          7  funding is going to be until well after they commit

          8  to being the people who are going to administer the

          9  program. This can be problematical for many zones.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: That's our

         11  concern. We hear what the needs are. We hear what

         12  the defining factor is in terms of establishing

         13  these zones for the benefit of going into areas and

         14  developing those areas, creating employment and the

         15  administrative costs have went up in terms of being

         16  able to implement this program. The Governor has

         17  done zeroed out of the budget. You have no money for

         18  the administrators. You got increased costs. You

         19  have increased applicants going in. It appears as

         20  though it is like a built in failure train. You are

         21  moving fast. You have good ideas. But when we ask

         22  the question that has been asked by all of us to

         23  clarify it because I think we all are a little bit

         24  somewhat unclear.

         25                 We understand the spirit and the
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          2  intent and as I listened to someone from the SBS

          3  say, the spirit is there. But in application, the

          4  spirit gets lost in terms where are the jobs that

          5  are being created. How come the individuals who live

          6  in these areas are not the beneficiaries? Yet we can

          7  manage to take and develop the tact structure in

          8  terms of giving these incentives the companies to do

          9  a, b, c, and d. Once they get it, it appears as

         10  though everything else becomes unclear. The

         11  administrative cost of the money, people getting

         12  hired, the expansion, but the business.

         13                 I would be interested in knowing

         14  whether or not what the profit margin was of a

         15  particular business or a group of businesses prior

         16  to getting those tax credits. What they are now? Do

         17  they show a profit? I'm not an accountant. Those are

         18  things I think you would, the auditors they could do

         19  that. Then we could deal with the Department of

         20  Employment to see if we could get those statistics

         21  concerning through zip code, with your help, of

         22  people in the immediate community.

         23                 I don't mean to sound as though we

         24  don't want these companies to have these credits.

         25  But we want the spirit to move along with the intent
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          2  of the law and application. We want businesses to

          3  expand in the areas. We want to blight the areas out

          4  of the City. We want people to be employed. That

          5  reduces crime. We are all working together, but you

          6  have got to give us something to work with. As long

          7  as we sit and we say okay, that sounds good or I

          8  have a hearing that sounds good and do nothing, that

          9  is no good.

         10                 We are on the Committee and myself as

         11  the Chair, we don't plan to stand idly by and just

         12  have information like this that is unclear and just

         13  leave it alone. I think I got a little bit of

         14  insight into where we are. I know that my colleagues

         15  know where we should be and what we are looking for

         16  in our perspective communities and what we would

         17  like to see for the City in terms of expansion. But

         18  we want to push it along. If it is through

         19  constructive criticism, so be it. We don't companies

         20  to leave the City of New York. But we don't want you

         21  to stay and take our money and not part of the City

         22  of New York. Any of my colleagues have a statement

         23  to make? Council Member Vann.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: Thank you, Mr.

         25  Chairman. Really, I guess a question. The fact that
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          2  you have the Empire Zone designation suggest that

          3  you do -- there are problems in the community in

          4  terms of unemployment and poverty and so forth. I

          5  guess that goes without saying. It is important to

          6  know both the opportunity and also your limitation.

          7  Perhaps we are expecting too much. In other words,

          8  can you create, do you have enough businesses, can

          9  you grow enough businesses within your zone to

         10  really have an appreciable impact on the residents

         11  in that particular zone?

         12                 I mean some communities are more

         13  residential than they are "commercial" and so on and

         14  so forth. I know you are three different

         15  communities, so I don't know if it is different

         16  answers for each one. But if that program worked

         17  effectively and you maximize this that and the other

         18  in your community and your zone, would you be able

         19  to make a substantial difference in the unemployment

         20  and the poverty in that zone?

         21                 MR. WERBER: Again, I think we have to

         22  look at the Empire Zone program as one tool in a

         23  tool kit. It is a big tool and a very important one,

         24  but one tool.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: Okay.
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          2                 MR. WERBER: I think the other thing

          3  to look at and consider is something that Neil

          4  brought up earlier which is that you want your zone

          5  boundaries to be in the commercial and industrial

          6  and retail areas which are by nature not

          7  residential. In fact, I can look at my zone, I can't

          8  speak to the others, and if you look at the zone

          9  boundaries for the Jamaica Zone, you will see it

         10  rings with census tracks that show evidence of

         11  economic disadvantage. But they are actually very

         12  few census tracks inside the zone that show that,

         13  partly because to show economic disadvantage you

         14  have a minimum population of 2,000 people.

         15                 In many cases, such as industrial

         16  sites, you are not going to have 2,000 people living

         17  there because it is zoned in and they can't live

         18  there. So you literally cannot designate those

         19  tracks as Empire Zone. So what we see happening is

         20  jobs created in the Empire Zone, most of them wage

         21  earned type jobs which are going to attract for the

         22  most part people who live nearby. That's what we

         23  see. I did work on another project a year ago, very

         24  closely with one of our largest anchor tenants which

         25  is a bakery in Jamaica; actually it is the
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          2  Wonderbread Baker and for that particular grant

          3  application, we had to look at or wanted to look at

          4  the number of jobs that were very much local. They

          5  had about 380 jobs and if my recollection is

          6  correct, about 80 percent of them were in the local

          7  community. That is the South Jamaica and in Jamaica

          8  environs. That gives you some idea of when you have

          9  these industrial jobs what percentage of those jobs

         10  go to people basically nearby.

         11                 MS. DE LEON: I'd like to respond to

         12  that. Let me say that in East Harlem, the population

         13  is 117,000; that is according to the last census

         14  track. When we initially inherited the zone, the

         15  prior administrators had not expanded the zone.

         16  Although we are allowed 1,280 acres which is the two

         17  square mile, at that point in time when we inherited

         18  the zone, only 105 acres were actually Empire Zone

         19  certified. That is because that was the limited

         20  industrial area or manufacturing area in East

         21  Harlem. There were very, very small businesses.

         22                 When we undertook responsibility for

         23  the zone, we initiated a zone boundary that actually

         24  took us two and a half years to complete. We then

         25  raised the boundaries from 105 acres to now a total
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          2  of 822 acres. What we have put in is that we will

          3  shortly be coming up with another boundary expansion

          4  to do the boundary expansion to fulfill all of the

          5  1,280 acres. Now what we have done in East Harlem

          6  with this boundary expansion that we are proposing

          7  is that it be commensurate with the community

          8  planning board area and that it also include Randals

          9  and Ward's Island (phonetic) which is the part of

         10  Community Board 11.

         11                 I think that to answer your question

         12  about do we have enough basic space to attract some

         13  of these major projects, I think we do. There are

         14  vacancies in East Harlem, but they are less and less

         15  vacancies in East Harlem kind in the blink of an eye

         16  within two weeks, any vacant space is usually taken

         17  up by another business. So there is the potential

         18  for certifying a lot of these businesses and we

         19  simply have to do the marketing. We welcome the

         20  opportunity to do that.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: If I could

         22  follow up, Mr. Chairman. The average job that you

         23  are able to maintain or create does require any

         24  educational or training for these particular jobs.

         25  You have people readily that can take those jobs
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          2  without any preparation, trade, or training,

          3  education.

          4                 MS. DE LEON: Let me respond to that

          5  because one of the things that I'm doing currently

          6  is trying to work with the Department of Labor to

          7  see if we can get some training going on a

          8  particular area because I know of a major project

          9  that is coming into East Harlem and I'm trying to

         10  address what might be an upcoming issue from that

         11  project to say that well this is a union job and we

         12  don't have any people that are able to participate

         13  at an union job, they are not qualified. I'm to

         14  trying to work with the Department of Labor now

         15  before the project comes in to be able to have

         16  people ready.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: My last comment

         18  on this and yield to my colleague. I have a better

         19  understanding now of the Empire State Zone, the more

         20  focus and the trickle down effect. That is you

         21  create the jobs there. You empower these

         22  manufacturing or whatever businesses, whatever you

         23  make them strong. You get all these incentives. They

         24  grow and whatever and they are able to keep the

         25  people that are employed or increase the number of
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          2  people that need employment to keep the businesses

          3  going and hopefully then, it will encompass more

          4  people in the adjacent community, if you will, or

          5  within close proximity to that business to become

          6  employed. The types of jobs whether or not they have

          7  the skills for the jobs depends upon the business

          8  coming in and you raised the union question so and

          9  so forth. I understand that.

         10                 It would seem to me that there is a

         11  need for another tool in the arsenal and that tool

         12  would be if we are dealing with poverty to identify

         13  those pockets of poverty, those areas, those

         14  communities and to view those individuals as an

         15  economic development tool. That person becomes an

         16  economic development project in terms that they have

         17  to become employable. They have to have either the

         18  education or the training or the motivation or

         19  support of services so that they can get a job

         20  whether it is in your zone or whether they go to

         21  Long Island or wherever they go, they have the

         22  ability to become a wage earner and therefore they

         23  can become employed and therefore begin to work

         24  their way out of poverty. I guess I'm sort of

         25  preaching to the convertor in that, yes, we need to
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          2  strengthen and give you what you want, but there is

          3  a need for another tool, Mr. Chairman, where we

          4  identify another zone and we work with the people in

          5  that poverty zone and make sure they can work their

          6  way out of poverty by whatever resources are needed.

          7  Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Well taken.

          9                 MR. WERBER: If I may in response to

         10  that, there has been an enormous of work done in the

         11  last year or two integrating workforce development

         12  and economic development. In fact, I think there is

         13  another training session coming up in a week or two

         14  for all us zone administrators on workforce

         15  training, grants that are available. And since we

         16  are the ones that are in contact with the companies

         17  most frequently and on the ground, we also can be

         18  the ones to start to educate them and inform them

         19  about training grants that are available. I think a

         20  lot of credit has to go to a lot of people, not

         21  necessarily at this table, who are working very hard

         22  to do exactly what you are talking about and I think

         23  we are all working hard towards that goal which is

         24  bringing people up, not just businesses up.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: Mr. Chairman, he
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          2  should know that this New York City, particularly

          3  the Black and Latino, members of this caucus

          4  initiated two years ago a workforce initiative, New

          5  York City Works, where we put some $20 million out

          6  there to do exactly what I'm talking about. We are

          7  very much attuned to that problem in trying to

          8  address it is real money and I think there is more

          9  to come.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Council Member

         11  James

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Thank you, Mr.

         13  Chairman and thank you Council Member Gerson for

         14  your deferment. The RFP with regards to the

         15  Workforce Development Grant that Council Member Vann

         16  just referred to, I believe the RFP should be issued

         17  sometime in the next month. I would urge that you

         18  keep your eyes and ears to the ground. United Way

         19  will be administering that grant and certainly a lot

         20  of the programs and businesses within the EDZ zones

         21  would be eligible.

         22                 Sometime ago I had the privilege and

         23  honor of working for Council Member Al Vann who was

         24  then the Assembly Member and one of my

         25  responsibilities was to review in the budget how the
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          2  Governor treated EDZ's and the WMBE program. In the

          3  past, during my ten years tenure working for

          4  Assemblyman Al Vann, the Governor had consistently

          5  zeroed out EDZ's. It was a part of the budget dance,

          6  if you will. My question to you is what assembly

          7  member or members is carrying, for lack of a better

          8  term, your contract? And what is their position with

          9  regards to increasing the amount of money for EDZ's

         10  in this year's budget?

         11                 MR. PARISER: I have no idea. Richard?

         12                 MR. WERBER: I don't have the names

         13  off the top of my head. We were informed by the

         14  Economic Development Council which is kind of a

         15  Statewide spokesperson for Economic Development

         16  Policy and given a list of assembly and senate

         17  members to approach about this. I would be happy to

         18  share that list with you as soon as I get back to

         19  the office.

         20                 MR. PARISER: Two years ago, Richard

         21  and I together with the people of DSBS, we went up

         22  to Albany to actively lobby because we thought that

         23  was going to be the final budget. Yet we prevailed,

         24  but it is always at a minimal level.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: In my
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          2  experience, again the assembly always carried --

          3                 MR. PARISER: Yes, it is one.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: -- It is one

          5  member. In the past, again it was Assemblyman Al

          6  Vann and Assemblyman Arthur Everie (phonetic) who

          7  are no longer there. And the caucus obviously was

          8  very much involved, the Black/Puerto Rican caucus

          9  and I know that Assemblyman Brodeski (phonetic) who

         10  now chairs Corporation Authority and Commissions is

         11  also involved as well as Assemblyman Jeff Orbere

         12  (phonetic). Those are the members that come to mind

         13  who in the past I joined with and Assemblyman Vann

         14  joined with in getting this money back, baselining

         15  it. But obviously based upon your testimony, you

         16  need an increase. The other question, again in the

         17  past, my experience is that money was suppose to be

         18  distributed evenly. But some EDZ and I don't want

         19  you to pit you against each other operate

         20  differently and your budgets are different.

         21                 MR. WERBER: Yes, as I mentioned there

         22  is now an evaluation process that Empire State

         23  Development Corporation carries out to measure

         24  performance of each local zone. And then that money

         25  is divided according to the evaluation. The lion
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          2  share of the evaluation criteria is based on what

          3  they consider the quality of your local zone policy.

          4  Which basically asks each zone to constrain to some

          5  extent those companies which may or may not be

          6  eligible for benefits. That is something else I

          7  touched on in my presentation, although the intent

          8  of the law still is, it is an economic disadvantage

          9  area. If you grow a job that would be of benefit to

         10  the area, you should be qualified. That is basically

         11  and fundamentally no longer the case.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And to what the

         13  extent the audit that was conducted by the New York

         14  State Office of Comptroller (it was very critical),

         15  to what extent has that had on funding and the

         16  operation of the existing EDZ's?

         17                 MR. PARISER: From our perspective, it

         18  really hasn't had any direct impact. This is a big

         19  State and that was a big audit.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Yes.

         21                 MR. PARISER: It is very difficult to

         22  equate what the City procedures with those if I go

         23  to Poughkeepsie. What Richard said is exactly right

         24  though, if you look at the funding, if I went to

         25  Poughkeepsie where you have IBM building chips
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          2  within the Empire Zone and they have two square

          3  miles, that is a real two square miles that they

          4  could create a part for IBM. Come to the South Bronx

          5  and one third of my zone is roadway. I have to count

          6  roads as part of my geographic area. There is no way

          7  I am going to compete with Poughkeepsie or Elmira or

          8  Watertown. Right there out of the gate, we lose.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Right.

         10                 MR. PARISER: The City loses. We don't

         11  have contiguous land mass. Ours is all cut up by

         12  roads. But from an operational point of view, I

         13  think it did point out some things that we had been

         14  telling the State for years now in the City. There

         15  were some abuses in the program that we foretold

         16  that would happen Upstate, not so much down here.

         17  The DSBS has done, I think, a tremendous job helping

         18  us coordinate our own program. We have our own layer

         19  of oversight before we go to Albany. That's one of

         20  the reasons why in my testimony, I would hope that

         21  at some point, Albany wakes up to the fact that they

         22  have done this wonderful job and that there is a

         23  certain need to look at the City differently.

         24                 We can't compete on an even level

         25  playing field with Upstate where we got real acreage
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          2  under that two square miles. We need a different

          3  certification process. Yes, make it some type of due

          4  diligence cost benefit. But let's tune it for the

          5  way the City needs it. That's what I'm hoping we can

          6  also get out of this.

          7                 MS. DE LEON: I just want to comment

          8  on your question. I think that as a result of that

          9  audit, the new legislation became much stricter in

         10  terms of the issue of accountability. I, for one

         11  appreciate the fact that businesses are more

         12  accountable. I think it gives us a little bit more

         13  teeth, not a whole lot more, but a little bit more

         14  in making the businesses kind of tow the line in

         15  certain areas, to provide the jobs that they say

         16  they are going to provide.

         17                 MR. WERBER: Just to repeat one thing

         18  which we have covered a few times and was covered

         19  pretty carefully right after the Comptroller's

         20  Office audit which I think there really was a

         21  fundamental ships passing in the night problem.

         22  Which again is Empire Zone benefits accrue to

         23  performance. They don't accrue because you projected

         24  something happen. You claim the tax credit after you

         25  have made the investment. You can claim the tax
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          2  credit after you have hired new people in the zone,

          3  not because you projected that you were going to do

          4  that.

          5                 In the Comptroller's Report, a lot of

          6  that was spun around this idea of these companies

          7  projecting certain performance goals and not meeting

          8  those performance goals. Well, they might not have

          9  met those performance goals, but they didn't claim

         10  tax credits against the performance goals. They can

         11  only claim tax credits against their performance.

         12  This is something that we seem to have trouble

         13  getting this across somehow. I think we should try

         14  to keep that in the backs in our head.

         15                 Again, I think the legislation did

         16  tighten up in some ways how the credits would be

         17  calculated and that's a good thing. I think it

         18  should be acknowledged as a good thing, but I think

         19  we have to be, I think, a little careful what we are

         20  making these small companies, how many hoops we are

         21  making them jump through before they can even get

         22  themselves eligible for these tax credits. Never

         23  mind claim the tax credits which is very different.

         24  As far as the profitability issue is concerned,

         25  again these are tax credits against your taxes. With
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          2  one exception, they don't go beyond your minimum

          3  corporate tax.

          4                 Unless you are paying taxes, unless

          5  you are profitable, you have no place to put these

          6  credits. That's something else to keep in mind. It

          7  is an interesting and in many ways a well designed

          8  program. Hopefully, again to get back to your issue,

          9  we can raise up the people that are working as well

         10  as raise up the companies that are basically

         11  benefitting from the tax credits.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: I recognize we

         13  have a number of challenges. As the problem in the

         14  New York City based in my district is again land and

         15  the lack thereof. There is all these demands for

         16  housing and so there is this encroachment upon the

         17  EDZ's for rezoning to residential and market forces.

         18  It is a challenge. I represent part of the Navy Yard

         19  and I also recognize the Navy Yard has done a great

         20  job in hiring local individuals within a two mile

         21  radius. I do have this Steiner Studios and they have

         22  not done a good job and so we really need to visit

         23  the notion of hiring locally. Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Council Member

         25  Gerson.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Thank you, Mr.

          3  Chair. Just very briefly. I think so much of

          4  importance has been stated by my colleagues and by

          5  your testimony. The increase in the administrative

          6  burden, the increase in the number of pages on the

          7  applications to which all of you have testified, is

          8  that due primarily to this new 15 to one

          9  justification ratio? Is that the major source of the

         10  extra administrative bureaucratic hurdle or are

         11  there other significant causes?

         12                 MS. DE LEON: I'd like to say that I

         13  think that is a portion of it. Certainly in terms of

         14  the cost benefit analysis, I don't know if you are

         15  aware of how it works. But once we get those

         16  numbers, we input those numbers into a software

         17  project and those numbers go to the State and the

         18  City and that's how we are able to calculate whether

         19  there is a 15 to one or what the ratio basically is.

         20  I think it is just more accountability in terms of

         21  the application all around both in the number of

         22  projections, what you have done, what you intend to

         23  do, so I think that is what accounts for the

         24  increase in size.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Are there any
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          2  areas, what I was trying to get along those lines,

          3  you can answer both together, are there any areas

          4  during the first year, the start up phase of this

          5  new process, if you will, where the City

          6  Administrative Department, the Department of Small

          7  Business Services or others could lend a special

          8  helping hand again during this first start up year

          9  or first one or two start up years to kind of

         10  alleviate the burden. I'm just trying to think if

         11  there is anything we can do as a City short, of

         12  course, give you more money or getting the State to

         13  give you more money to hire staff. But any

         14  expertise, any review sessions, any kind of

         15  collective review of the applications filed by the

         16  different zones, anything that we can do at the

         17  administrative level of the City to deal with this?

         18                 MR. PARISER: Let me respond to the

         19  first question. I think the reason it ballooned to

         20  16 pages is a knee jerk reaction by the State to

         21  what were some perceived abuses in the program.

         22  There was this large flurry of now, okay, what could

         23  we do in terms of due diligence up front to prevent

         24  the kind of things that happened up in Syracuse

         25  which is where this all happened. They then looked
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          2  at the application, well, why don't we have

          3  projections by types of jobs, not just like numbers

          4  of jobs, but what kind of jobs are you going to do.

          5  What are they going to pay?

          6                 Now what you are doing, is you are

          7  going back to raising expectations by a business. He

          8  has to figure out if I'm making widgets, well how

          9  many widget makers will I have and how many

         10  designers will I have. And then if we don't meet

         11  those goals, this is going to show upon the

         12  Comptroller's Report somewhere. So what we are doing

         13  is we are building in absolute failure to some

         14  degree. What can the City do? I think the City is

         15  done what they can. I mean the very virtue of the

         16  fact that they do help us organize the zone board

         17  and help us with whatever paperwork is required in

         18  Albany, but it is really up to us in the field to

         19  work with the individual businesses and that's where

         20  the rubber meets the road.

         21                 I think there is a movement now at

         22  the SBS and with the City now to look at, as I

         23  stated in my testimony, that industry counts in this

         24  City. And there is going to be some more dollars

         25  hopefully on the table through in place industrial
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          2  park programs and all that we will merge these two

          3  and there will be hopefully some resources at the

          4  end of the day.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: My last

          6  broader point, following up to what many of my

          7  colleagues have suggested, the integration of the

          8  Empire Zone business tax advantages and kind of a

          9  workforce development, I think is probably a

         10  critical next step. Any suggestions you all have

         11  would as to how achieve that integration would I'm

         12  sure be welcomed by all of us. I'm thinking again

         13  ahead in the district I represent where we are just

         14  getting started clearly for example, ESL, as part of

         15  workforce development is going to be critical if

         16  this new enterprise zone is going to meet its goals

         17  and fulfill its opportunities.

         18                 I know we are going to be grappling

         19  with bringing those two challenges or tapping those

         20  two challenges together.

         21                 But anyway, we can expand and extend

         22  and foster the greater combination, I think that is

         23  something we, as a Committee, should look at. I'm

         24  sure we will, and your advice, I'm sure would be

         25  more than welcome.
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          2                 Mr. Chair, thank you very much, and I

          3  look forward to continue to work with you under your

          4  great leadership on all these and other economic

          5  development issues.

          6                 Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: I will take all of

          8  these ideas of my colleagues and this Committee and

          9  I want to thank you for coming here today.

         10                 I just would like to add that Greater

         11  Jamaica Development Corporation is in close

         12  proximity to my district. One of the things I would

         13  like to throw out to you is the fact that if you

         14  have an idea of what the businesses that want to

         15  come into your area are, that we should think in

         16  terms of like business.

         17                 People have to be trained and you

         18  should be willing to have those businesses depending

         19  on the number of employees that they are going to be

         20  added to go to an employment center that can offer

         21  the training and upon the completion of the

         22  training, have a placement. Because you can have a

         23  lot of training, but at the end of the training, no

         24  placement. That's just my suggestion to you. I want

         25  to thank you for coming. The meeting stands
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          2  adjourned.

          3                 MS. DE LEON: Thank you.

          4                 MR. WERBER: Thank you.

          5                 MR. PARISER: Thank you.

          6                 (Hearing concluded at 12:40 p.m.)
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          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, LORI SANTOMIERI, do hereby certify

         10  that the foregoing is a true and accurate transcript

         11  of the within proceeding.

         12                 I further certify that I am not

         13  related to any of the parties to this action by

         14  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         15  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         16                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         17  set my hand this 13th day of February 2006.
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          9            I, LORI SANTOMIERI, do hereby certify the

         10  aforesaid to be a true and accurate copy of the

         11  transcription of the audio tapes of this hearing.
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